



Università degli Studi di Milano

PhD Course in Experimental Medicine

CYCLE XXXV

PhD thesis

Unveiling cardiac IL-33/ST2L pathway deregulation in animal model of obesity and cardiovascular disease

Candidate: **Dr. Clementina Sitzia** Matr. R12718

Tutor: Prof. Massimiliano Marco Corsi Romanelli

Supervisor: Dr. Elena Vianello

Director: Prof. Nicoletta Landsberger

Academic Year 2021-2022

Table of contents

Abstract	5
Disclosure for research integrity	7
Abbreviations	7
Introduction	9
The IL-33/ST2 signalling pathway	9
IL-33 structure	9
IL-33 cell expression	10
IL-33 and disease	10
Bioactive forms of IL-33: full-length protein and mature forms	10
Biology and structure of ST2	12
IL-33/ST2 axis	14
IL-33/ST2 and cardiovascular disease	16
Genetic variants in IL-33 and ST2 genes and relationship with CAD	17
IL-33 and sST2 as a clinical biomarker	18
IL33/ST2 and obesity	18
Cardiac steatosis: a bridge between cardiovascular disease and obesity	20
Aim of the thesis	23
Material and Methods	24
Animal Models included in this study	24
Procedures involving living animals	25
Total RNA Extraction and Reverse Transcription	26
RT2 Profiler PCR Arrays	26
Western Blot Analysis	28
Cell culture and transfection	29
Shotgun Mass Spectrometry Analysis for Label-Free Proteomics	30
ELISA assay	31
Sircol Assay	31
Histological analysis	31
List of included antibodies	32
Table 1: RT2qPCR Primer Assay QIAGEN	33
Availability of Data	34
Statistics	34
	2

Results	36
Characterization of IL-33/ST2 signalling in Zucker rat	
Serum levels of IL-33 and sST2 in relation to obesity in ZR	
IL-33/ST2 pathway expression in visceral adipose tissue	
IL-33/ST2 pathway expression in cardiac biopsies	
Fibrosis characterization in cardiac tissue	40
Investigating putative mediator of cardiac remodeling: Epac1	41
Characterization of obesity-induced-remodeling in obese rats	42
FoxP3 evaluation in cardiac biopsies of ZR	42
Characterisation of II-33/ST2 on cardiomyocites in vitro	44
Transwell coculture of adipose tissue and H9C2	44
Pro-fibrotic and hypertrophic signalling in rat cardiomyocytes after adipose tiss stimulation	Je 45
Modifiers of IL33/ST2 signalling:	47
In vitro Ghrelin stimulation of cardiomyocites	47
Characterization of Ghrelin-IL-33/ST2 axis in Zucker rat cardiac tissue	49
Characterization of IL-33/ST2 signalling in ZDF rats	49
Circulating level of IL-33/St2 signalling	49
Cardiac expression	50
Fibrotic remodeling of diabetic heart	52
Characterisation of IL-33/ST2 pathway in Diet induced obesity (DIO) mice	53
Circulating levels of IL-33/ST2 in DIO mice	53
Obesity alters inflammatory status in DIO mice	53
Adipose and cardiac expression of IL-33/ST2 pathway	54
Impact of fatty diet on cardiac proteome of DIO mice	56
Discussion	58
Conclusions	64
Acknowledgments	68
References	69
List of figures and tables	86
Appendix Errore. Il segnalibro non è c	lefinito.
Dissemination of results	88
Lay summary	

Abstract

Obesity has become an increasing public health issue worldwide; it is estimated than over 65% of American adult population is overweight and 35% are actually obese. Criteria for obesity definition is traditionally linked to Body Mass Index (BMI). Although an important correlation exists between BMI and body fat deposit, the BMI criteria cannot actually predict body composition in any given individual due to variability determined by age, sex, race and ethnicity. Besides the weight of an individual, both fat localization and type represent more important estimators of cardiovascular disease. Importantly, the accumulation of visceral fat - more than subcutaneous fat - is linked to cardiovascular disease severity and mortality. Among ectopic fat depots, pericardial and epicardial fat accumulation are intriguingly important. Epicardial adipose tissue (EAT) represents a biological active tissue that secretes adipokines known to promote low-grade inflammation and diabetic vascular complications. The cause is due to the shared blood supply between EAT and myocardium, as indeed EAT provides the 50–70% of the energy used for contraction trough the release of free fatty acids (FFAs). It is intuitive that molecular/metabolic alteration of EAT will be reflected on its secretome and on cardiac metabolism. EAT thickness seems to be associated to ventricular myocardial mass and importantly to myocardial steatosis. A plethora of works highlighted the role of IL-33 and its receptor ST2 within cardiac dysfunction and inflammation associated with obesity. Once secreted in activated or damaged cells, IL-33 modulates the functions of various immune cells through ST2 binding, affecting the proliferation of T cells, macrophages, and innate lymphoid cells. Accordingly, IL-33/ST2 pathway is involved in lipid metabolic diseases and - following its role as immune sensor to infection and stress - it is linked to pro-fibrotic remodeling of myocardium and more in general in cardiovascular diseases. Our group demonstrated in coronary artery disease (CAD) a direct correlation between EAT thickness and IL-33/ST2 signalling imbalance further highlighting a role for EPAC protein involved in cAMP signal transduction

In this PhD Project we aimed to further investigated the IL-33/ST2 effects on cardiac remodeling in obesity, focusing on the molecular pathway that links adipose/cardiac-derived IL-33 to development of fibrosis or hypertrophy. We choose Zucker Fatty rats (ZF) and Zucker Diabetics Fatty rats (ZDF) to overcome the problems linked to tissue availability and to the homogeneity of human EAT samples that need to be collected during cardiac surgery. Since genetic animal models do not fully recapitulate human pathology, we developed *in*

vitro models to mimic adipose and myocardial relationship in vitro. Indeed, we evaluated the effects of visceral adipose tissue (VAT)-derived cellular medium in the modulation of adipose secretome and how they affect myocardial gene expression. Finally, we compared obtained results with those derived from Diet induced obesity (DIO) mice, a naturally occurring model of obesity that reliably resembles human disease. Following both molecular and proteomic analysis, we demonstrated a dysregulation of IL-33/ST2 signalling in both adipose and cardiac tissue, where they affected myocardial gene expression and determined a profibrotic signature. In Zucker rats, pro-fibrotic effects were counteracted by ghrelin-induced IL-33 secretion, whose release influenced transcription factor expression (such as MEF2a), but also increased sST2 and not cardioprotective ST2L form. In this context we observed a reduction of EPAC signalling, that is promoted by VAT secretome and linked to ST2 isoforms balancing regulation. Similar results were obtained in ZDF rats, as both models did not develop evident alteration of cardiac architecture, although we described the increase of the pro-fibrotic signature. To avoid the genetic bias linked to leptin mutation and ghrelin upregulation we repeated our analysis in DIO mice that fully recapitulates human obesity and presents gradual appearance of hyperglycaemia and progression of metabolic syndrome. Thanks to the analysis of cardiac proteome, we observed an enrichment in proteins and networks involved in extra-cellular matrix remodeling and ventricular function. Interestingly, IL-33 was considered among the possible up-stream regulators of this process. In conclusion, this PhD project demonstrated a dysregulation of IL-33/ST2 signalling in obesity, that directly correlate with Epac expression in ZF rats. The alteration of these pathways in adipose tissue could influence IL-33/ST2 expression and hypertoric/fibrotic response in cardiac tissue. Importantly the effect of IL-33 signalling could be modulated by hormones (such as Ghrelin) and other stimuli.

Importantly, the final effect of IL-33 signalling activation is dependent on several factor, as cell types' origin and balancing of ST2 isoforms. Noteworthy, extreme importance has to be ascribed to the animal models used in *in vivo* experiments, the chronic or acute condition as such as the time of IL-33 secretion. This way, it is reasonable that to define a unique protective role of IL-33 is over-simplistic and further studies are needed to confirm and unveil mechanisms of IL-33 as a gene expression regulator in cardiac obesity.

Disclosure for research integrity

This research was conducted following the European Code of Conduct for Research Integrity.

Abbreviations

American Heart Association (AHA)

AMI (acute myocardial infarction)

Body Mass Index (BMI

Cardiovascular disease (CVD)

Coronary artery disease (CAD),

Cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP)

Diastolic Blood Pressure (DBP)

Diet induced obesity mice (DIO)

Epicardial adipose tissue (EAT)

Exchange proteins directly activated by cAMP-1 and 2 (EPAC1 and EPAC2)

Free fatty acids (FFAs).

Heart failure (HF)

High endothelial venule (NF-HEV)

IL-1 receptor-like 1 (IL1RL1)

Ingenuity pathway analysis (IPA)

Interferon- γ (INF- γ)

Interleukin-33 (IL-33)

Knock out (KO)

Matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)

Metabolically healthy overweight/obese (MHOO)

Myocyte enhancing factor 2 A (MEF2A)

Non-ST elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI)

Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- α , γ (PPAR α and PPAR γ)

Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PCK-1)

Reactive oxygen species (ROS)

Receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE)

Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs)

ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI)

Subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT)

Suppression of Tumorigenicity 2 protein (ST2)

Tumour necrosis factor α (TNF- α)

Type 2 Diabetes mellitus (T2DM)

Visceral adipose tissue (VAT)

Ying Yang 1 (YY1)

Zucker fatty diabetics rats (ZDF)

Zucker fatty rats (ZF)

The IL-33/ST2 signalling pathway

IL-33 structure

IL-33 is a cytokine belonging to the IL-1 family discovered in 2003 by Baekkevold *et al.* Firstly named nuclear factor of high endothelial venule (NF-HEV) (1). The protein in humans encompasses 270 amino-acids and it is composed of two domains as represented in Fig.1: the C-terminal domain, responsible for the ST2-dependent signalling and the N-terminal domain - that contains a chromatin-binding motif and it is supposed to function as a transcriptional repressor (2). The two domains are separated by a "protease sensor domain" that contains multiple cleavage sites. C-terminal domain – also called IL-1 like cytokine domain – also possess an important cleavage site for caspase 3/7 (3).



Fig 1 IL-33 primary structure and its functional domains (from (3))

The C- domain binds its receptor ST2, forming a ternary complex with the co-receptor IL-1 receptor accessory protein IL-1RAcP: this complex activates MyD88- dependent signalling pathways (4). The N-terminal domain contains the sequence for nuclear localization that is essential for its regulation. In fact, IL-33 is sequestered in the nucleus and the deletion of nuclear signals provokes the continuative release of cytokines in the extracellular space, leading to multi-organs inflammation and death (5). These lethal effects are mediated by

ST2 signalling as its genetic deletion preserved mice from death. Although a new role for IL-33 has been postulated as a regulator of transcription, the effect of intranuclear IL-33 is largely unknown and controversy, depending on cell types and stimulation (6, 7). Accordingly, Travers and colleagues reported that induced expression of nuclear IL-33 in esophageal epithelial cells lacking ST2 had no impact on gene expression (8).

IL-33 cell expression

In humans, the endothelium is the predominant source of IL-33: at the steady state the IL-33 is abundantly expressed in the nuclei of blood vessel in almost all human organs (9, 10) while differences exist in mice where constitutive expression is lower (11-13). Furthermore IL-33 is strongly expressed in epithelial cells of barrier tissues (bronchus, nasopharynx, skin, stomach, salivary gland, vagina, etc...) where they respond to stimuli from the environment. In human lungs the major sources of IL-33 are airway basal epithelial cells and endothelial cells. In this sense, damage to the endothelium and subsequent release of IL-33 is a rapid and important sensor and mediator of inflammation (10, 14).

IL-33 and disease

The epithelium-derived IL-33 is involved in several tissues and disease processes. Thanks to animal models suffering from conditional knock out (KO) of the IL-33 gene in endothelial cells, the effect of endothelium-derived IL-33 have been elucidated. In particular in a pressure overload model IL-33 induced systemic inflammation and similarly it contributed to kidney and liver ischemia–reperfusion injury (15). IL-33 has a role in allergy such as in mouse models of gastrointestinal allergy (16). Epithelial derived IL-33 in involved in asthma, since genome-wide association studies revealed that IL-33 represents a major susceptibility *locus* in this pathology (17). IL-33 is up-regulated in a multitude of disease and inflammatory process (autoimmune or allergic) and following infections (parasite, virus) and in sepsis. Often the activation of an autocrine/paracrine pathway is responsible for the up-regulation of IL-33, as its release stimulates its production in the IL-33 secreting cells (3). However, danger stimulation determines the over-expression of IL-33 in different cells (18, 19).

Bioactive forms of IL-33: full-length protein and mature forms

Firstly, it was though that IL-33 required cleavage for activation after extracellular release. On the contrary it was demonstrated by 11 that the full-length isoform, IL-33FL, (IL-33aa1-270) has biological activity and is able to activate ST2L signalling, whilst once cleaved by

caspase 1 or 3-7 it became inactivated (20, 21). This finding is in line with its biological role as an alarmin, that does not need to be activated in a condition of programmed cell death as apoptosis, in which the activation of inflammation and immune system is not required. On the other hands, cleavage from endogenous or infection-derived proteases – such as neutrophil elastase and cathepsin G, mast cell chymase and tryptase – produce a 18–21 kDa proteins considered as the mature forms. These mature forms contained the C-terminal IL-1-like cytokine domain and show a ~30- to 60-fold higher biological activity than that of IL-33 (17, 22, 23).

This rapid and powerful activation of IL-33 after allergen protease is responsible for the importance of IL-33 signalling in allergic disease (24). However, allergen and other proteases are also fundamental mechanisms of IL-33 regulation (17). Indeed, intensive proteases processing determines IL-33 inactivation. Another mechanism of protein degradation is mediated by oxidation that regulates the formation of two intra-molecular disulfide bonds that disrupt the ST2L binding site. Besides, during condition of increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, IL-33 degradation is increased (25). On the other hand, de-ubiquitination of IL-33 is involved in nuclear stability whereas ubiquitination in transcriptional activation (26, 27).



Figure 2: Pro-IL-33 processing and function (28)

Biology and structure of ST2

The ST2 gene was first described by Werenskiold and colleagues and named Suppression of Tumorigenicity 2 protein (ST2) due to its role in the induction of cell proliferation, a fundamental characteristic of cancer development (29). The ST2 gene, located on human chromosome 2q12, encodes a protein that is a member of the interleukin-1 receptor-like-1 (IL1RL1) family. Four protein isoforms of ST2 are produced as a result of alternative promoter splicing and 3' post-transcription processing of ST2 mRNA (30, 31). The most important forms are the transmembrane one, ST2 ligand receptor (ST2L) with molecular weight of 67 kDa and three extracellular IgG domains, and a smaller secreted soluble form

(sST2) with molecular weight of 37 kDa, sharing similar extracellular structure but without the transmembrane and intracellular parts. The role of vST2, variant form, has still to be elucidated. The two isoforms are receptors that bind IL-33 and not IL-1 α , IL-1 β or IL-1R antagonists. The ST2L is expressed on membrane surface and activates MAP kinase cascade and NF-kB to modulate immune response. On the other hands, the soluble form of ST2 receptor lacks the transmembrane and intracellular domains and functions as decoy receptor, blocking IL-33 signalling (28).

ST2 is expressed by cells of different origin such as embryonic, hematopoietic, tumorigenic, and immune ones and its effects depend both on different cells' source and stimuli as well as on cell growth factors (platelet-derived, acidic fibroblast and primary fibroblast growth factor) (32). The first and most important role of ST2L is crucial for the development of T helper type 2 lymphocytes. In response to IL-33/ST2L signalling Th2 cells produced IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 anti-inflammatory cytokines, promoting the switch of immune response from th1 towards th2. However, these cytokines are also involved in allergic reactions. On the contrary the over-expression of sST2 soluble form that blocks IL-33 signalling also blocks Th2 development, favouring the TH1 production of pro-inflammatory cytokines leading to Tumour necrosis factor α (TNF- α) and inflammation (33, 34). These process are sought to be involved in several inflammatory and autoimmune diseases (33-35) in different organs and biological systems such as in the heart (36-38).

Once released after injury in the extracellular space IL-33 reaches the surface of ST2 receptor and the complex is formed by means IL-1 receptor-like 1 (IL1RL1) and IL1RAcP (IL-1 receptor accessory protein), to initiate inflammatory pathways in immune cells or cell proliferation. This complex needs to recruit additional adaptors (including MyD88, IRAK1/4, TRAF6) and the cascade ends in the activation of different transcription factors such as ERK, NF-kB, p38, JNK. Importantly, as mentioned above, the effect changes in relation to cell type considered (immune cells, cancer cells) (39).



Figure 3: Activation and regulation of IL-33/ST2 signalling (64).

IL-33/ ST2 axis

The role of IL-33 is to alert the organism of a damage that is occurring through the activation of the immune system. Thus, it represents an alarm signal released from the nuclei of producing cells upon cell injury. Endothelial cell damage, mechanical injury or virus and parasite infection, allergic intranasal administration of ragweed pollen (40) all determine rapid release of endogenous IL-33 protein in the extracellular space in plasma, cerebrospinal fluids, and nasal lavage fluids. One-hour IL-33 rapid increase is transient, so that its level in the various fluids returned always to baseline within 24h (25).

Release of full-length IL-33 protein is evident following induction of cellular necrosis but its role during homeostasis needs to be clarified. It has been reported that IL-33 could be released from cells subjected to mechanical forces *in vivo* followed by cell recovery or death at later time points (24, 41). However chronic IL-33 stimulation such in asthma or autoimmune disease will probably follow different mechanism of release.

IL-33/ST2 and cardiovascular disease

A plethora of studies evidenced the importance of sST2/ST2L/IL-33 triad role in cardiovascular disease. As mentioned before, the effect is mostly beneficial and linked to ST2L activation, that favors cardiac repair reducing cardiovascular remodeling or atherosclerotic plaque progression. However, continuous and exaggerated IL-33 release will lead to excessive Th2 response, recruitment of mast cells or eosinophils and tissue damage. In this sense this view is probably over-simplistic as IL-33 administration is not always beneficial since both pro- and anti-inflammatory actions have been attributed to IL-33, neither a harmful role of sST2 is definitely established (28).

In the cardiovascular system IL-33 is constitutively expressed in the nuclei of cardiac fibroblasts, endothelial cells, cardiomyocytes, and coronary artery smooth muscle cells (42). It can be released both by living cells in response to mechanical stress during fiber stretching or following cell necrosis (43). Its expression in cardiac tissue is promoted by Proinflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , interferon (IFN)-c, and IL-1 β . Conversely, ST2L and sST2 mRNA were reported to be expressed at low levels in cardiomyocytes in humans, but it can also be transiently induced in other cell types (44). In the heart, the binding to ST2L receptor and its co-receptor IL-1RACP recruits MYD88, IRAK1, IRAK4, and TRAF6, leading to activation of ERK1/2, JNK, p38 MAPK, and NF-kB: this condition determines the subsequent activation of multiple pathways that exert the beneficial effect of IL-33 regarding to cytokines' secretion, immunomodulation, cell proliferation, and cardiomyocytes' survival. In this sense, *in vitro* studies demonstrated that IL-33 favours the survival of neonatal rat cardiomyocytes from cell hypoxia and after anoxia/reoxygenation (45) by increasing the expression of anti-apoptotic proteins (XIAP, cIAP1, survivin, Bcl-xL, and Bcl-2) (46).

These findings were further confirmed *in vivo* as IL-33 protects the heart from fibrosis and reduced infarct size. However, IL-33 alone does not suppress collagen I/III or periostin production by adult rat cardiac fibroblast but - on the contrary - IL-33 stimulates expression of cytokines and chemokines (IL-6 and CCL-2) associated with cardiac inflammation and fibrosis. Accordingly, the beneficial effect of IL33 in the myocardium is probably indirect. Furthermore Abston *et al.* found a paradox effect of that IL-33 treatment in healthy mice, that promoted inflammation inducing eosinophilic pericarditis leading to impaired heart function. Indeed, the beneficial effect of II-33 in infarct seems to be linked to reduced ROS-production and the cells involved are yet to be defined (47).

Interestingly a few reports indicated a role for sST2 itself beyond its blocking effect on IL-33 signalling. This effect seems to be related to direct anti-inflammatory actions on macrophages by downregulating Toll-like receptors.

Genetic variants in IL-33 and ST2 genes and relationship with CAD

Starting from the evidence that the binding ST2L/IL-33 determines a strong immune response leading to inflammatory conditions, Ho and colleagues investigated the variations of sST2 in plasma of 2,991 Framingham Offspring Cohort participants. Interestingly, they found that clinical and environmental features of patients – as age, cardiac evaluation, systolic blood pressure and other comorbidities – had a limited impact (15%) in the determination of sST2 concentrations (48). In opposite, more than 40% of sST2 variability was determined by genetic factors, as several single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) or missense variants of *IL1RL1* gene caused dramatic alterations in IL-33/ST2-dependent pathways. Accordingly, it was demonstrated a pathological activation of different pro-inflammatory signalling pathways, as those dependent on IL-1 β , NF-kB, MAP-kinases and mTOR (48). Similarly, other studies described the synergy between IL-1b and IL-33 (49, 50) and the association of IL1RL1 polymorphisms with enhanced CAD severity (51, 52). Interesting results were obtained through the study of IL-33 promoter region, since different SNPs were linked to IL-33 over-expression and elevated risk of CAD (52) or to down-regulation of IL-33 and lower probability to suffer from CAD and obesity (53).

IL-33 and sST2 as a clinical biomarker

A multitude of studies reported that serum levels of IL-33 decreased with increasing CVD severity. Its expression is opposite to those of IL-6 or the extracellular protease matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-28 (54, 55). However, although CVD was present, serum IL-33 was undetectable in more than 50% of study participants. Often, sST2 is preferred to IL-33, due to its greater stability. Furthermore, ELISA assay for IL-33 lack sensitivity and specificity since II-33 has a very short half-life and its level could be wrongly assessed due to interference of sST2 binding, protein degradation and oxidation. Oxidation could also modify the protein immunoreactivity thus conveying the antibody in the assay unable to recognize it. This finding has to be considered in condition of increased ROS production and oxidative stress such as obesity and cigarette smoke (56, 57).

On the opposite, all studies confirmed that circulating levels of sST2 increased with greater severity of CAD events so that it allows to discriminate patients among non-ST elevation myocardial infarction (NSTEMI) and ST elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI).

Importantly these studies evidenced the prognostic utility of sST2 that predicts worse outcome in acute myocardial infarction (MI) (58), systemic and pulmonary hypertension (59, 60), coronary artery disease (CAD) and heart failure (HF) (61), and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). (62). Furthermore - in the long-term - sST2 is an independent predictor of all-cause mortality. Comparing sST2 performance with well-known biomarkers as troponin or NT-proBNP levels revealed that sST2 positively correlated with infarct size This way, admittance levels were a significant predictor of cardiovascular death and predicts the risk of developing it. sST2 level could also predict left ventricular remodeling after infarction myocardial, being an important indicator of future cardiac function (63). Interestingly sST2 is less influenced by modifying factors as age, sex and by kidney failure and other comorbidities than classic used biomarkers (64). Thanks to all of these consideration sST2 is a promising new clinical biomarker for both acute and chronic heart failure.

IL33/ST2 and obesity

Several studies investigated the relationship between IL33 and obesity with sometimes contradictory results. IL-33 is expressed in the endothelium of adipose tissue, and it can be upregulated. For example, the expression of IL-33 mRNA was found to be increased in adipose tissue of obese Wistar rats (65) or it was up-regulated following TNF- α stimulation

(66). On opposite, IL-33 seems to be upregulated to counteract inflammation and metabolic disorders caused by obesity (67). In fact, IL-33 could be related to low-grade inflammation of adipocytes that is characteristic feature of obesity (65). Conversely in obese Zucker rats Ragusa et al. showed that the mRNA level of IL-33 in adipose tissue was significantly reduced (68). Similar to animal models, in humans Circulating levels of II-33 and sST2 in obesity are controversy. Lower levels of serum IL-33 were observed in non-lean individuals in comparison to those who are lean. IL-33 level was also negatively correlated to BMI in lean subject but this was not confirmed in obese subjects (69). Other studies observed increased serum levels of IL-33 in metabolically unhealthy overweight/obese subjects compared to healthy subject while no difference could be detected in healthy subject versus metabolically healthy overweight/obese (MHOO) in chinese population. In addiction the increase of serum IL-33 was positively associated to several metabolic syndrome risk factor such as diastolic blood pressure (DBP) and alanine transferase levels (70). On the contrary, Zeyda showed no significant alteration in the IL-33 level in serum of severely obese people versus non-overweight subjects (71).

The distribution and the consistency between adipose and serum levels of IL-33 is still a matter of debate and several explanations exists for conflicting results. IL-33 levels could depend on the different murine models employed, condition used for developing obesity (as the type of diet) and also on IL-33 assay used for measurement. In any case it is generally accepted that IL-33 has a beneficial role in obesity, by regulating homeostasis and promoting beige adipogenesis in white adipose tissue through activation of ILC2. In this context, IL-33 acts to modulate inflammation associated to obesity and to limit adiposity by increasing caloric expenditure. IL-33 is produced and released by adipocytes and endothelial cells in adipose tissue and its production is increased by the sympathetic nervous system.

All these effects are mainly mediated by the modulation of immune response (72). Kai et al treated intravenously DIO mice with recombinant IL-33. They showed that IL-33 did not alter the weight of the animals, however the weight of SAT and epididimal (VAT) tissue was reduced. Furthermore, adipose tissue accumulation and ballooning of liver were reduced in treated mice. IL-33 treatment restored elevated level of PPAR γ and acetyl-CoA synthetase 1 (AceCS1) seen in HFD mice. Difference arose in SAT and VAT regarding IL-33 expression that was increased in SAT and reduced in VAT treated with High Fat diet and restored by exogenous IL33 treatment. These findings lead to the possibilities that resident cell could

play different roles in SAT and VAT (67). Similarly, Miller et al showed both *in vitro* and *in vivo* that IL-33 treatment promotes adipose tissue release of cytokines (IL-5, IL-13, IL-10) and enhances adipose macrophages' differentiation towards Th2 phenotype. Furthermore, IL-33 treatment of Ob/Ob mice influenced both mRNA expression of gene associated to lipid metabolism such as *C/EBPa*, *SREBP-1c*, *PPAR* γ and circulating level of cytokines (with marked over-expression of IL-5, IL-6, IL-10 and IL-13). On the other hand, the treatment did not influence liver expression of genes involved in glucose and lipid metabolism - phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PCK-1), aminotransferase enzymes, SREBP-1c, FAS fatty acid synthase (FAS), LXR α , LXR β , and PPAR γ coactivator-1 α (PGC-1 α) - but it caused the polarization of liver macrophages/Kupffer cells toward an M2 phenotype (73). Other demonstration of the anti-inflammatory properties of IL-33 treatment in obesity came from Han et al., as they demonstrated that High fat diet induced ST2⁺ Tregs reduction in VAT of DIO mice. IL-33 completely restored the proportion of Tregs and reduced TNF- α and IL-6 expression in VAT tissue but not in the spleen, confirming a local anti-inflammatory effect (74).

The beneficial effects of IL-33 treatment seemed to be linked to ST2L signalling as those are abolished in model lacking ST2L. Interestingly $ST2^{-/-}$ mice are more prone to develop obesity and increased their body weight in response to a high fat diet; in addition, they were not insulin resistant but showed altered pancreatic insulin secretion in response to glucose overload (73). Recently sST2 was identified as a potent regulator of adipose T_{reg} and ILC2 homeostasis as AAV-mediated elevation of sST2 is sufficient to determine diminished adipose tissue T_{regs} , increased adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance. In line with these evidence, plasma sST2 level was also associated with metabolic characteristics of human diabetes (75). Finally, TNF α was identified as a potent inducer of sST2 gene expression in adipocytes further linking inflammation and adipose tissue dysregulation (76).

Cardiac steatosis: a bridge between cardiovascular disease and obesity

Obesity has been traditionally linked to cardiovascular disease development (77). However body mass index and weight alone cannot actually predict the risk for having a cardiovascular event due to individual differences (race, sex age) (78). Furthermore, visceral or subcutaneous fat depots are not strictly biologically identical in term of fat storage and release, metabolism and secretome. Thus, research is increasing focusing on more reliable markers than BMI and waist circumference. Increasing interest has been developed on

ectopic fat accumulation such as pericardial and epicardial fat accumulation - called cardiac steatosis. As it was well-known that visceral adipose tissue has role in cardiovascular disease (CVD) pathogenesis by provoking insulin resistance and through the release of active adipokines in the circulation (79), the role of Epicardial tissue in cardiac remodeling was investigated. Eat has different physiological roles further than be a fat storage, it regulates free fatty acid release preventing cardiac lipotoxicity (80) and it protects the heart and coronary arteries from mechanical stress and hypothermia (81); and it contains the ganglia innervating myocardium (82). EAT and myocardium share common blood supply thus it can influence myocardium metabolism trough both a paracrine and vasocrine mechanisms. Physiologically, EAT secretes adipokines that exert protective effects on the myocardium as adiponectin (83) and orosomucoid (84) that mediates protection from apoptosis and antioxidant effects. For example, adiponectin improves nitric oxide bioavailability and endothelial function in the coronary vasculature (79). In pathological conditions it contributes to cardiac remodeling through secretion of adipokines, that enhance low-grade inflammation and diabetic vascular complications. EAT was shown to directly favoring atherogenesis by activating monocytes (85) and through the deposit and the oxidation of LDL (86). In this sense, EAT thickness is associated to ventricular myocardial mass and steatosis. And several studies have considered EAT as a quantifiable CVD risk marker (87, 88) through imaging. Although with still unknown mechanism, cardiac adiposity appears to promote alteration of cardiovascular profile increasing the risk of cardiovascular disease (89). The cardiomyocytes damage could be mediated by the production of lipotoxic intermediates (90) such as retinol binding protein-4 or activin A that negatively affect cardiac metabolism (91). In CAD, macrophages and T-cells proliferation determine a switch of EAT towards an inflammatory phenotype. Similarly in diabetes EAT is increasingly infiltrated by CD14+ monocytes (92). Elegant work from Venteclef et al. showed that EAT secretome in enriched in pro-fibrotic adipokines. In particular compared to other fat depots EAT secretes higher level of thrombospondin 2, vascular endothelial growth factor, activin A, TGF-B1 and matrix metalloproteinase isoforms, and induce extensive fibrosis of rat atria in organo-culture models (93). Intriguingly, recent findings suggested a bidirectional cross-talk between myocardium and EAT with dysfunctional myocardium that can provoke an inflammatory switch in gene expression in EAT tissue (94). There are few works regarding EAT-mediated expression of IL-33/ST2 pathway. Gruzdeva et al. investigated IL-33 system in relation to EAT thickness and visceral obesity in a cohort of post-AMI patients. They showed that EAT thickness increased with visceral obesity and correlates with fibrosis and maladaptive

remodeling one-year post-AMI. The degree of cardiac fibrosis was negatively related to the IL-33 levels and positively related to the ST2 levels (95).

Previous study of our group analyzed 55 patients presenting cardiovascular disease including CAD and non-CAD patients demonstrating a disbalance in IL-33/ST2 expression characterized by increased expression of ST2 in dysfunctional EAT tissue that correlates with ventricular remodeling and Left ventricle dysfunction (96). The pathological EAT locally produced exchange proteins directly activated by cAMP-1 and 2 (EPAC1 and EPAC2) proteins, and the latter positively correlated with the expression of ST2 whereas it does not correlate with IL-33 alarmin expression (96).

Aim of the thesis

In this project we aimed to investigate cardiac remodelling in obesity, both in vivo and in vitro, and - in particular - the pathways that link ectopic fat accumulation and detrimental fibrotic remodelling of the heart. A reliable approach to uncover the effectors of these pathways is to identify the molecules that are dysregulated in these tissues in conditions of cardiovascular risk such as type 2 diabetes, CAD and obesity. EAT trascriptome in CAD patients revealed an up-regulation of inflammatory pathways consisting in cytokine production (adipokynes, TNF α , IL-1 β) and leukocytes migration. Indeed, our group already demonstrated a direct correlation between EAT and fibrosis in cardiac tissue of CAD patients related to the imbalanced IL-33/ST2 molecular pathway. The ST2/IL-33 pathway exerts a protective role in cardiac tissue, by reducing fibrosis and infarct size while increasing cardiac survival. Interestingly, ST2/IL-33 signalling is also related to EAT thickness. In obese individuals, plasma levels of sST2 are increased, partially due to the endothelium release of leptin in adipose tissue. In this sense, the chronic increase of ectopic fat body determines alterations - such as low-grade inflammation and leptin increase - that affect the activities of distant organs through IL-33/ST2 signalling modulations. Here we planned to evaluate ST2/IL-33 expression in VAT and heart in an in vivo model of obesity to correlate ST2/IL-33 system expression with the most important genes involved in cardiac remodeling. We investigated fibro-cytokine ST2 and IL-33 alarmin protein expression in obese ZF, ZDF and in control rats and we evaluated their correlation with both fibrotic gene pathways and cardiac matrix remodeling. Secondly, we planned to investigate the molecular mechanisms by which IL-33/ST2 signalling affects myocardium homeostasis, focusing on important cellular second messenger as cAMP, its regulators and effectors. We also concentrated our efforts in resolving the effects of adipose tissue secretome on cardiomyocytes by modeling in vitro the relationship between adipose tissue and myocardium. Using VAT conditioned medium, we planned to evaluate the effect of VAT-released IL-33 on cardiomyocytes' metabolism. Finally, as this pathology is a multifactorial disease that could arise both genetically or as a consequence of wrong lifestyle, we characterized DIO mice, whose obesity depend on the maintenance of a high fat diet. By exploiting cardiac proteomic analysis in these mice, we devised to globally evaluate the influence of fat accumulation, to confirm the importance of IL-33/ST2 pathway and - more importantly - to unveil new molecular target or enriched networks.

Material and Methods

Animal Models included in this study

Obesity in Zucker rats arose from a spontaneous mutation (a missense A to C mutation) in the leptin receptor gene on chromosome 5 (Lepr^{fa}) that determines the production of a non-functional receptor. The mutation leads to a state of hyperphagia, due to impaired satiety reflex that leads to obesity (97). Zucker fatty rat, and Zucker Diabetic rat are among the most used animal models for T2DM research today (98). Although over 4000 publications are present on PubMed, these animals do not fully recapitulate human disease. Diet induced obesity models are more reliable However, naturally developing obesity models do not need time-consuming diet scheme. In humans T2DM is slow and progressive while in ZF obesity is early - starting from 3 weeks - and becoming severe by 5 weeks. Importantly Zucker fatty rats are not hyperglycaemic (99) and showed only moderate hypertension. Finally, this model does not develop premature atherosclerosis or important cardiac lesion nor dysfunction (100).

Further Crossbreeding of Zucker rats for hyperglycaemia eventually developed a less obese, but diabetic subtype, called the Zucker Diabetic Fatty (ZDF) rat. They harbour an autosomal recessive mutation in β -cell transcription (independent from the Lepr mutation) (101). However only Male ZDF rats are more prone to the development of T2DM. Similar to ZF, ZDF rats do not develop hypertension or severe cardiovascular diseases (102).

DIO animal models are considered a particularly good model to study obesity in humans. It closely recapitulates the mechanisms promoting obesity and metabolic syndrome in humans. It gradually develops hyperinsulinemia, hyperglycaemia, and hypertension as in humans (103) analogue to metabolic syndrome in humans and it is reversible . Many researchers demonstrated that in these mice fat accumulates preferentially in the mesentery, paralleling abdominal obesity and promoting diabetes (104). High fat diet induced gradual accumulation of fat with hyperglycaemia that develops within 1 month and by 16 weeks fat mass increased by 93% accompanied by hyperplasia and hypertrophy of adipocytes. These animals are usually used to study the role of diet, pathophysiology and aetiology of the disease, as well as pharmacological tests. They also developed atherosclerosis (105) and compromised immune function (106).

Procedures involving living animals

Procedures involving living animals were conformed to Italian law (D.L.vo 116/92 and to the European Union guidelines.. and approved by local ethics committees and the Italian Ministry of Health (Number 5AD83.N.G1Q) For DIO mice experiments: fourteen six-week-old male C57BL/6N mice (Charles River Laboratories, Calco, Italy) were divided into two groups and fed for 20 weeks as follows: (1) normal chow diet (10% fat, CTR) and (2) high-fat (HF) diet (60% fat) (Charles River Laboratories). The mice were housed at constant room temperature (22± 2°C) and humidity (60± 5%) with a light-dark cycle of 12 h each with water ad libitum. At the age of 26 weeks, the mice were sacrificed through exposure to atmosphere saturation of carbon dioxide for 15 min. Cardiac and adipose tissues were collected and immediately snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at -80°C until analyses or fixed in 10% buffered formalin, routinely processed, and paraffin-embedded and collected. Serum was collected and stored at-80°C. For Zucker rats' experiments: the use of animals in this study was authorized by the National Ministry of Health (protocol number (N°325/2015PR of 2015/04/05). Ten obese non-diabetic male Zucker rats (OB) (fa/fa-) and 10 lean littermates (L) (Fa/+) were provided by Charles River. All animals were housed in a controlled ambient environment (12 h light/dark cycle) at a temperature between 21 and 23°C. Cage population was limited to a maximum of four animals each to ensure the health and welfare of animals. The rats had free access to clean water and fed with standard diet. At 25 weeks of age rats were deeply anesthetized with Zoletyl (20mg/kg), then sacrificed by cervical dislocation. One animal of Lean group died, thus the organs were not collected. Heart, adipose tissue and serum were collected. 5 hearts for each group were formalin fixed and paraffin-embedded, 5 heart and 5 adipose tissue biopsies for each group were frozen in Allprotect Tissue Reagent (QIAGEN at -20°C. Mutated Zucker rats were called Obese group, while wild-type healthy rat were called Lean. For Zucker Diabetics rats' experiments: the use of animals in this study was authorized by the National Ministry of Health (protocol number N°325/2015PR of 2015/04/05).

Ten diabetic male Zucker rats (OB) (fa/fa-) and 10 lean littermates (L) (Fa/+) were provided by Charles River. All animals were housed in a controlled ambient environment (12h light/dark cycle) at a temperature between 21 and 23°C. Cage population was limited to a maximum of four animals each to ensure the health and welfare of animals. The rats had free access to

clean water and fed with standard diet. At 25 weeks of age rats were deeply anesthetized with Zoletyl (20mg/kg), then sacrificed by cervical dislocation.

Heart, adipose tissue and serum were collected. 5 hearts for each group were formalin fixed and paraffin-embedded, 5 heart and 5 adipose tissue biopsies for each group were frozen in Allprotect Tissue Reagent (QIAGEN at -20°C. Mutated Zucker Diabetics rats were called ZDF group, while wild-type healthy rat were called Lean

Total RNA Extraction and Reverse Transcription

Disruption and homogenization of cardiac and VAT samples (n = 5 for each experimental group) were performed with the TissueLyser II* equipment (QIAGEN, Milan, Italy) through high-speed shaking in plastic tubes with 5 mm stainless steel beads. Then, total RNA was isolated using the RNeasy Lipid Tissue Mini Kit (QIAGEN), according to the manufacturer's instructions. RNA concentration was quantified with NanoDrop (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Monza, Milan, Italy). RNA samples (1 µg) were first treated with a genomic DNA elimination step (5 min/42 °C and kept on ice at least 1 min) and then reversely transcribed using the RT² First Strand Kit (15 min/42 °C and 5 min/95 °C) (QIAGEN). Samples were stored at -20 °C until real-time polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) analysis. Coculture cells were harvested from 48 wells centrifuged at and cells pellet were frozen at -80 for further use. RNA was extracted from harvest cells with RNeasy Microkit (Ref 74004 QIAGEN). cDNA was generated using the Reverse Transcriptase (Kit RT² First Strand Kit Cat. No. / ID: 330404) followed by the SYBR-Green reaction to quantify the expression of the genes in Table 1. (Qiagen RT2 Sybr green qPCR Mastermix fast) All the cDNA samples were tested in triplicated, and the threshold cycles (Ct) of target genes were normalized against a housekeeping gene, the glyceraldehyde 3phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH). Relative transcript levels were calculated from the Ct values as $X = 2^{-\Delta\Delta ct}$ where X is the fold difference in the amount of target gene versus GAPDH and $\Delta\Delta Ct = \Delta Ct_{target} - \Delta Ct_{GAPDH}$. The efficiency of primers used was calculated between 95.2% and 98.3%.

RT2 Profiler PCR Arrays

RT2 Profiler PCR Arrays allowed the detection of 84 key gene transcripts related to rat fibrosis (PARN-120Z, from QIAGEN) using qPCR. Each cDNA sample was diluted with nuclease-free

water and mixed with the RT2 SYBR green Mastermix (QIAGEN). Twenty-five µL of the same experimental mixture were automatically added to each well of the array (one array for each cDNA) using the QIAgility® equipment (Qiagen). qPCR was performed by the RotorGene-Q (Qiagen) and consisted of an initial activation of the Hot-start DNA Taq polymerase at 95 °C/10 min, which was followed by 40 cycles of 95 °C/15 s and 60 °C/30 s. Then, dissociation curves were performed to verify the specificity of the amplicons using the default melting curve program of the instrument. Data were analyzed using the RT2 Profiler PCR Array Data Analysis Web Portal (QIAGEN). A list of all the transcripts included in the fatty acid metabolism-array and in the fibrosis-array is included:

Pro-Fibrotic:

✓ Acta2, Agt, Ccl11 (Eotaxin), Ccl12, Ccl3 (Mip-1a), Ccn2, Grem1, II13, II13ra2, II4, II5, Snai1 (Snail, Sna).

Anti-Fibrotic:

✓ Bmp7, Hgf, Ifng, II10, II13ra2.

Extracellular Matrix (ECM) & Cell Adhesion Molecules

- ECM Structural Constituents: Col1a2, Col3a1.
- ECM Remodeling Enzymes: Lox, Mmp1, Mmp13, Mmp14, Mmp2, Mmp3, Mmp8, Mmp9, Plat (tPA), Plau (UPAM), Plg, Serpina1, Serpine1 (Pai-1), Serpinh1 (Hsp47), Timp1, Timp2, Timp3, Timp4.

Cell Adhesion Molecules:

✓ Itga1, Itga2, Itga3, Itgav, Itgb1, Itgb3, Itgb5, Itgb6, Itgb8.

Inflammatory Cytokines & Chemokines:

✓ Ccl11 (Eotaxin), Ccl12, Ccl3 (Mip-1a), Ccr2, Cxcr4, Ifng, II10, II13, II13ra2, II1a, II1b, II4, II5, IIk, Tnf.

Material and Methods

Growth Factors:

✓ Agt, Ccn2, Edn1, Egf, Hgf, Pdgfa, Pdgfb, Vegfa.

Signal Transduction

TGFβ Superfamily Members:

 Bmp7, Cav1, Dcn, Eng (Evi-1), Grem1, Inhbe, Ltbp1, Smad2, Smad3, Smad4, Smad6, Smad7, Tgfb1, Tgfb2, Tgfb3, Tgfbr1 (Alk5), Tgfbr2, Tgif1, Thbs1 (TSP-1, Tsp1), Thbs2.

Transcription Factors:

✓ Cebpb, Jun, Myc, Nfkb1, Sp1, Stat1, Stat6.

Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition (EMT):

 ✓ Akt1, Bmp7, Col1a2, Col3a1, Ilk, Itgav, Itgb1, Mmp2, Mmp3, Mmp9, Serpine1 (Pai-1), Smad2, Snai1 (Snail, Sna), Tgfb1, Tgfb2, Tgfb3, Timp1.

Other Genes related to Fibrosis:

✓ Bcl2, FasIg.

Western Blot Analysis

Total proteins from cardiac biopsies isolated from lean and obese rats were extracted in RIPA (Cell Signalling) lysis buffer 1x + 1% protease/phosphatase inhibitor (Cell Signalling) + dH₂0, then disrupted and homogenized with TissueLyser II* (QIAGEN). Samples disruption were carried out in high-speed (20–30 Hz) shaking steps for 2 minutes for 2 consecutive cycles (in 1.2 ml micro tubes containing 5 mm stainless steel beads), then put on ice for 30' and centrifuged (at 4°C -13200rpm for 15') to collect the supernatant as described in QIAGEN Tissue Lyser Handbook. Cells were incubated with 250µL of Trypsin/EDTA for 5 minutes at 37°C. As soon as lysis occurs, proteolysis, dephosphorylation and denaturation begin. Trypsin was inactivated and lysis was stopped treating the cells with 250µL of cell culture medium. Total volume was transferred to a microfuge tube and the lysate was clarified by spinning for 8

minutes at 1200 rpm at room temperature. The cell medium was discarded and cellular pellet was immediately frozen at -80°C. Samples were resolved on polyacrylamide gels (BIO-RAD Mini- Protean TGX Stain –Free Gels ranging from 4% to 20%) and transferred (transfer system BIO-RAD Trans-Blot Turbo) to nitrocellulose membranes (BIO-RAD Trans-Blot Turbo 0,2µm nitrocellulose). Membranes were incubated with primary antibodies ON at 4°C, followed by washing, detection with horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibodies (DakoCytomation, United States), and developed by enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL BIO-RAD Clarity[™] Western substrate). Filters were incubated overnight. A list of all tested antibodies is included below. Bands were visualized using BIO-RAD Chemidoc[™] Touch Image System. Densitometric analysis was performed using ImageJ software.

Cell culture and transfection

The rat H9C2 cell line was utilized in this study. All the cells were obtained from H9C2 Merck Cell Line from Rat BDIX heart myoblast-88092904. The cells were grown in DMEM high glucose (Euroclone) medium supplemented by 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and incubated at 37°C, with 5% CO2 atmosphere. For transwell assay, cells were plated in a 24-well plate (30000cells/wells) with transwells insert (Costar code 5026649) in 0,5 mL of medium for each experimental time-point. 30 mg of fresh adipose tissue was plated on the inner chamber, on the top of the filter membrane while cells were plated on the bottom of the lower chamber in a 24-well plate (30000cells/wells). The peculiar pore size of the transwell membrane employed in our experiment did not allow direct cell-cell interaction between adipose tissue and H9C2, neither the passage of adipose cells. Cells and medium were collected after 3h, 6h 24, and 48h and RNA extraction was performed on lysed cells through Qiagen kit. H9C2 cells were also seeded for Ghrelin treatment (Ghrelin rat lyophilized powder G8902 Sigma-Aldrich) in 24wellplate (FALCON 353504) seeding density 30.000 cells in 0,5 ml of medium/well, treated at T0 and T48h and harvested every 24h till 72h. Following harvesting, cells were immediately lysed in Buffer RLT to prevent unwanted changes in the gene expression profile as suggested by Qiagen RNeasy Micro Kit protocol.

Shotgun Mass Spectrometry Analysis for Label-Free Proteomics

Heart tissues of 8 CTR mice and 8 mice fed with HF diet were analysed by a shotgun label-free proteomic approach for the identification and quantification of expressed proteins. The tissues were homogenized in 100 µL of extraction buffer (8M urea, 20mM Hepes pH 8.0, with Protease and Phosphatase Inhibitors cocktail). Prior to proteolysis, proteins were reduced with 13mM dithioerythriol (30 min at 55 °C) and alkylated with 26mM iodoacetamide (30 min at room temperature). Protein digestion was performed using sequence-grade trypsin (Promega) for 16 h/37 °C using a protein/enzyme ratio of 20:1 The collected peptides were desalted using Zip-Tip C18 before Mass Spectrometric (MS) analysis. NanoHPLC coupled to MS/MS analysis was performed on a Dionex UltiMate 3000 directly connected to an Orbitrap Fusion Tribrid mass spectrometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific) by a nanoelectrospray ion source. Peptide mixtures were enriched on 75 µm ID X 150 mm EASY-Spray PepMap RSLC C18 column (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and separated using the LC gradient: 1% ACN in 0.1% formic acid for 10 min, 1–4% CAN in 0.1% formic acid for 6 min, 4–30% ACN in 0.1% formic acid for 147 min, and 30–50% ACN in 0.1% formic for 3 min at a flow rate of 0.3 µL/min. Orbitrap-MS spectra of eluting peptides were collected over an m/z range of 375–1500 at resolution of 120,000, operating in a data-dependent mode with a cycle time of 3 s between master scans. HCD MS/MS spectra were acquired in Orbitrap at resolution of 15,000 using a normalized collision energy of 35% and an isolation window of 1.6 m/z. Dynamic exclusion was set to 60 s. Rejection of +1 and unassigned charge states were enabled. A database search was conducted against the Mus Musculus Uniprot sequence database (https://www.uniprot.org/proteomes, accessed on 4 March 2019) with MaxQuant (version 1.6.0.1) software. The initial maximum allowed mass deviation was set to 10 ppm for monoisotopic precursor ions and 0.5 Da for MS/MS peaks. Enzyme specificity was set to trypsin, defined as C-terminal to Arg and Lys excluding Pro, and a maximum of two missed cleavages were allowed. Carbamidomethylcysteine was set as a fixed modification, while N-terminal acetylation, Met oxidation, and Asn/Gln deamidation were set as variable modifications. Quantification in MaxQuant was performed using the built-in labelfree quantification algorithms (LFQ) based on extracted ion intensity of precursor ions. False protein identifications (1%) were estimated by searching MS/MS spectra against the corresponding reversed-sequence (decoy) database. Statistical analysis was performed using the Perseus software (version 1.6.14.0). Only proteins that were present and quantified in at least 75% of the repeats were positively identified in a sample and used for statistical analysis. Proteins were considered differentially expressed if they were present only in one condition or showed a significant t-test difference ($p \le 0.05$). Bioinformatic analyses were carried out by Panther software (release 16.0) (107), CLUEGO software (Cytoskape release 3.8.2) (108), and Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA 2021 release) to cluster enriched annotation groups of biological processes, pathways, and networks within the set of identified proteins (109). Functional grouping was based on Fischer's exact test p-value ≤ 0.05 and at least 3 counts. The mass spectrometry proteomics data have been deposited to the ProteomeXchange Consortium via the PRIDE (PXD031915). Thanks to kind collaboration with Prof. Gabriella Tedeschi.

ELISA assay

ELISA assays were performed to analyse protein expression in serum and VAT tissue of DIO mice ZF and ZDF rats. Rat IL-33 (Fine Test) for IL-33 analysis and Rat IL1RL1 (IL-1 Receptor Like1) (Fine Test) for ST2 were performed. Serum and VAT tissue homogenates were prepared following kit instruction. Serum was diluted 1:2 before assay testing.

Sircol Assay

Collagen amount was quantified in homogenates of cardiac biopsies by Sircol Collagen Assay (Sircol[™], Soluble collagen assay Biocolor Ltd, UK). It measures mammalian collagen (I to V). the procedure was performed following kit instruction. 50µL of cardiac homogenates were analysed in this assay.

Histological analysis

Ematoxilin-Eosin staining and Trichrome Masson staining (Trichrome Stain Masson -SIGMA-HT15), were performed on serial section of cardiac biopsies from ZF and ZDF rats. 5 hearts for each group were formalin fixed and paraffin-embedded and cut on a microtome. The procedure and analysis were performed by Anatomic Pathology Service of IRCCS Policlinico San Donato Hospital, in collaboration with Prof. Clemente. Immunoistochemical Staining of II-33 and ST2 were performed trough automated procedure Ventana Medical Systems (Roche). Antibodies were used as follow: IL-33 Rabbit monoclonal 1:200 (Proteintech) and ST2 Rabbit (Enzo) Polyclonal antibody 1:500.

List of included antibodies

Collagen 3 alpha1 antibody, Cohesion biosciences, mouse monoclonal 1:1000 140KDa

II-33 Enzo, rabbit polyclonal antibody, 1:1000 25kDa

Epac 1 (5D3), Cell signalling, Mouse mAb 1:1000 100 kDa

Epac 2 (5B1), Cell signalling Mouse, mAb 1:1000 115 kDa

FOXP3 (F-9) Santa Cruz Mouse monoclonal 1:200 48 kDa

ST2, Proteintech, polyclonal antibody Rabbit 63/37/30 kDa

ST2, Enzo, polyclonal antibody, 1:500

Tgf beta1, Cohesion biosciences, rabbit polyclonal, 1:500 43kDa

Vinculin, Cell Signalling, Rabbit mAb 1:1000 124kDa

Table 1: RT2qPCR Primer Assay QIAGEN

Prime Name	Primer Code	Amplicon length
Mouse-Rapgef4 (Epac2)	PPM32822A	115 bp
Mouse-Rapgef3 (Epac1)	PPM26532A	81 bp
Mouse-IL33	PPM32527A	134 bp
Mouse-IL1RL1	PPM03546A	132 bp
Mouse Gapdh	PPM02946E	140 bp
Rat Yy1	PPR53391A	99bp
Rat Socs3	PPR06602A	145bp
Rat Rapgef3 (Epac1)	PPR49530A	131bp
Rat Rapgef4 (Epac2)	PPR49522A	119bp
Rat Pparα	PPR44459A	110bp
Rat Mef2A	PPR62504B	100bp
Rat IL33	PPR564110A	97bp
Rar Hdac4	PPR47615A	89bp
Rat Ghsr	PPR51984A	121bp
Rat Ghrl	PPR49492A	107bp
Rat Gapdh	PPR06557B	200bp

Prime Name	Primer Code	Amplicon length
Forward Rat St2L	AGTTGTGCATTTACGGGAGAG	68bp
Reverse Rat St2L	GGATACTGCTTTCCACCACAG	
Forward Rat St2s	GGTGTGACCGACAAGGACT	119bp
Reverse Rat St2s	TTGTGAGAGACACTCCTTAC	

Table 2: Custom LNA oligonucleotide (QUIAGEN):

Availability of Data

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this manuscript will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

Statistics

Data were analyzed by GraphPad PrismTM and expressed as mean \pm SD or mean \pm SEM. To compare multiple groups means, one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test was used to determine significance (*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001; ****p < 0.0001). To compare two groups, Student's t-test was applied assuming equal variances: difference was considered significant at *p < 0.05. To correlate protein's expression, linear regression and multivariate regression analyses were performed.

Results

Results

Characterization of IL-33/ST2 signalling in Zucker rat

In this project we decided to investigate the IL-33/ST2 pathway expression in different models of obesity to highlight its effect in cardiac remodeling. Among them, we choose the Zucker Rat, that is a well-known model of obesity (97). This model has a mutation in leptin receptor gene, that determines the loss of satiety recognition causing a tendency to overeat. This model has been widely used to assess obesity effects.

Serum levels of IL-33 and sST2 in relation to obesity in ZR

At sacrifice (25 weeks of age), rats that harbour the homozygous mutation (Ob) developed obesity, and their weight was 3 times higher than those of controls (Lean 415.0 \pm 11.67g; Obese 533.7 \pm 17.08g with p<0.0001) as reported in literature (100) (Fig1a). To evaluate IL-33 and ST2 expression we measured IL-33 and the sST2 isoform levels in serum through ELISA and we observed a decrease of IL-33 levels (Lean 2.130 \pm 0.098 pg/ml; Obese 1.886 \pm 0.057 pg/ml with p=0.0627) and a statistically significative increase of sST2 (Lean:10370 \pm 0.1073; obese 1.632 \pm 0.05262 with p=0.0287) (respectively Fig1b and Fig2a). Intriguingly, we observed a positive correlation between weight and IL-33 serum level in Lean rats. However further increase of weight in Obese rats was associated to decreased level of serum IL-33 (p=0.024) (Fig2b).



Figure 1: Characterization of IL-33 signalling in ZF rats: weight and serum IL-33 levels. (a) Graphs showing weight of rats at sacrifice (p=0.0001) and (b) ELISA assay of serum IL-33.
a 257		b	- 0	
E 2.0-	بتن <u>م</u> ا	Ē 3.0-	-∎- C6 -#- L	
d) 1.5-	- <u>#</u> -	60 12 2.5-	•	
5 1.0- 5	•	1 2 2 C		
§ 0.5-		8		30
0.0	Ĺ Ób	300	400 500 600 weight (g)	700

Figure 2: Characterization of IL-33 signalling in ZF rats: serum ST2 levels. (a) ELISA assay of ST2 serum levels (p=0.0287) and (b) graph showing opposite correlation between IL-33 and weight in Lean (p=0.0024) versus Obese (p=0.0373) rats

IL-33/ST2 pathway expression in visceral adipose tissue.

To investigate the source of serum IL-33/sST2 we analysed adipose tissue levels of IL-33 and ST2 by ELISA to verify whether their secretion is dependent on this tissue. Both IL-33 and total ST2 were increased in obese rats (mean IL-33 lean: 174.4 ± 49.40 pg/ml; obese: 346.2 ± 38.10 pg/ml with p=0.0141; ST2 lean 328.9 ± 2898 pg/ml; obese: 12.77 ± 259.4 pg/ml with p=0.0162). (Fig.3a,b respectively). However, ELISA analysis did not allow to discriminate between ligand or soluble ST2 isoform.

a 🔤			b 2500 1		2
(juu/6d)	• +		E 2000-	н. Н	-
200-	÷	taja.	at ST2 (9		
s _	<u>.</u>	• 0b	> 500- 		: Ob

Figure 3: IL-33/ST2 expression in VAT tissue of ZF rats. Graphs showed up-regulation of IL-33 (p=0.0141) (a) and (b) ST2 (p=0.0162) expression in visceral adipose tissue (VAT) following qPCR experiments

IL-33/ST2 pathway expression in cardiac biopsies

In cardiac biopsies we observed a slight increase of IL-33 mRNA (Fig.4a), that became significant at protein level by WB analysis (Mean IL-33 lean: 0.5002±0.1503(AU); obese 0.9328±0.1237(AU) with p=0.0430) as shown in Fig4b. However, we did not detect significative differences in ST2L or sST2 isoforms as assessed through qPCR (Fig.4a). Western blot did not highlight any difference between ST2 and soluble isoforms probably due to high variability in ST2 expression (Fig4b). In fact, high variability of ST2 isoform expression could depend on cell localization (as in atria or in ventricula) and on cell types.



Figure 4. IL-33/ST2 pathway expression in cardiac biopsies of ZF rats. (a) qPCR graphs showed *IL-33* and *sST2* and *ST2L* expression. (b) Western blot showed increased IL-33 protein (p=0.0430) and no difference in ST2 isoforms levels.

Fibrosis characterization in cardiac tissue

We investigated whether IL-33/ST2 deregulation determined fibrotic remodeling in obese heart. To do this we analysed the expression of a panel of of 84 genes involved in the regulation of extracellular matrix (ECM) and cell adhesion molecules and in the fibrotic processes, which include both pro- and anti-fibrotic regulators, growth factors, inflammation-related molecules, signal transduction molecules, and regulators of epithelial-to-mesenchymal cell transition. We observed the activation of pro-fibrotic signalling, as indicated by the overexpression of Serpin Family E Member 1 (Serpin1) and Metallopeptidase 8 and 9 (MMP8 and MMP9). In particular all these genes codify for proteins involved in tissue remodeling, as Serpin1 is an inhibitor of tissue plasminogen activator and reduces the activity of matrix metalloproteinases while MMP8 and MMP9 are peptidases involved in the degradation of matrix. (Fig5a).

These data were further confirmed by WB analysis, assessing significant increased level of TGF β - mean lean 1.206±0.03499; obese 2.347±0.04653 (AU) with p<0.0001 - and collagen 3. Sircol analysis demonstrated increased collagen fibers deposition in cardiac biopsies from obese rats compared to those of lean controls (Mean Lean 1076±26.21µg/ml; Obese: 2087±73.97µg/ml, with p=0.0002).



Figure 5: Fibrotic cardiac remodeling evaluation in ZF rat. (a) Graph showed fibrosis-related transcriptome in ZF rats. Genes that showed a fold change >2 or <-2 in the Ob vs. L group are represented and grouped according to their biological function (p<0.01). (b) Western blot showed upregulation of collagen 3 and TGF β (p=0.0001) in Obese rats. (c) Graph showing Sircol red quantification demonstrated significant over-expression in Obese rats related to control ones (p=0.0002)

Investigating putative mediator of cardiac remodeling: Epac1

As exchange protein activated by cAMP (Epac1) is an important mediator of cardiac remodeling, we evaluated its expression in cardiac biopsies. Epac1 in heart tissue could act both as a pro-fibrotic and an anti-fibrotic agent depending on cell type. In fact, Epac1 KO mice appear to be protected from cardiomyocytes hypertrophy, fibrosis, and cardiac dysfunction induced by pressure overload and ischemia reperfusion (110) while in fibroblasts Epac1 seems to inhibit TGF β -signalling (111). We observed a decrease of Epac1 in obese animals both at mRNA (Mean lean: 1.048±0.123 2^{-ΔΔCT}; Obese 0.7496 ±0.05870 2^{-ΔΔCT}, with p=0.0383) (Fig6a) and protein (Mean Lean 1.063 ±0.067 AU; Obese 0.8715±0.09691 AU, p=0.0695) levels in Ob rats (Fig6b). Interestingly, the amount of Epac1 was negatively correlated to IL-33 expression (Fig6c, p=0.0099).



Figure 6: Epac1 expression in cardiac biopsies of ZF rats and its correlation with IL-33/ST2 signalling. Graphs showed *Epac-1* over-expression in (a) qPCR (p=0.0383) and (b) western blot. (c) Correlation between Epac1 and IL-33 expression (p=0.0099).

Characterization of obesity-induced-remodeling in obese rats

We performed morphologic analysis of rat heart on formalin-fixed section. Haematoxylin and Eosin and Masson's trichrome staining was performed to evaluate cardiomyocytes size and collagen deposition. Although some area of collagen deposition and fat infiltrates were detected in obese animals, we did not demonstrate a significant remodeling of cardiac architecture. (Fig.7)



Figure 7: Pictures of Haematoxylin and Eosin and Masson's staining of cardiac biopsies of ZF rats.

Since histologic analysis did not evidence altered cardiac architecture, to go beyond, we performed immunohistochemical analysis of IL-33/ST2 expression in cardiac biopsies. According to literature (43), we observed endothelial expression of IL-33/ST2 – rarely in myofibers – however we did not assess significative differences between lean or obese rats in protein localization or in the amount of protein expression.(Fig8)



Figure 8: Pictures of IHC analysis of IL-33 and ST2 expression in heart biopsies of ZF rats.

FoxP3 evaluation in cardiac biopsies of ZR

We further decided to evaluate whether altered IL-33 expression could determine an accumulation of T-reg cells in cardiac tissue. In this sense IL-33 signalling could modulate Treg-FOXP3+ cells activity and phenotype on mucosal surface (112) but also in tissues, like in the lungs (113) and in different conditions such in tumor microenvironment (114). Foxp3 Treg cells are important in tissue repair and to avoid autoimmunity. Exogenous IL-33 administration given to normal or cardiac-transplanted mice, by shifting TH response towards TH2 also expands suppressive CD4⁺ Foxp3⁺ T regulatory cells (Treg). After MI, IL-33 could promote proliferation and expansion of Treg (115). Although the increase of IL-33

expression in cardiac biopsies of ZF Obese rats, we did not observe a significative increase of FOXP3 protein expression by means WB analysis. (Mean FoxP3/vinculin: Lean: 1.158A U and obese:1.036, p=0.1703) (fig.9).



Figure 9: Evaluation of FoxP3 expression in cardiac biopsies of ZF rats. WB bands and histogram quantification of FoxP3 and vinculin expression.

Characterisation of II-33/ST2 on cardiomyocites in vitro

Transwell coculture of adipose tissue and H9C2

To better elucidate the interplay among adipose tissue-derived signals and IL-33/ST2 expression in cardiac cells, we performed transwell experiments by plating H9C2 cells with VAT tissue derived from lean or obese animals for 48h. On lysed cells we analysed the expression of IL-33/ST2 pathway by qPCR. Adipose tissue stimulation determined the increase of IL-33 expression in H9C2 cells compared to control cells. More interestingly, we observed significant increase of IL-33 expression in cells cultured with adipose tissue from Ob rats, that was higher than those cultured with adipose tissue from Lean rats (Mean IL-33 Lean: $1.101 \pm 0.1020 \ 2^{-\Delta\Lambda CT}$, obese $1.489 \pm 0.1383 \ 2^{-\Delta\Lambda CT}$, with p=0.0468) (Fig.10a) Conversely, stimulation of adipose tissue with obese-derived VAT determined a slight reduction in the expression of ST2L while soluble sST2 did not vary, suggesting a dysregulation in IL-33/ST2L pathway due to obesity (Fig.10b,c). Finally, Epac1 expression was reduced in cells cultured with obese-derived VAT, accordingly to data obtained in cardiac biopsies and negatively correlated to ST2L expression (mean lean 0.8292\pm0.55560 $2^{-\Delta\Lambda CT}$; obese 0.5567±0.06238 $2^{-\Delta\Lambda CT}$, with p=0.0115) (Fig.10d). In last analysis, we observed a negative correlation of ST2L and Epac1 (p=0.0172) (Fig.10e).



Figure 10: Conditioned medium with VAT tissue isolated by Lean/Obese ZF rats promotes cardiomyocytes gene expression alteration. qPCR experiments showed that fat stimulation from Obese rats promoted (a) *IL-33* expression (p=0.0468) while it reduced (b) *ST2L*. (c) *sST2* was not modified. Fat stimulation reduced (d) *Epac1* expression (p=0.0115), while (e) *Epac2* was unchanged. (f) Graph showed negative correlation between ST2L and Epac1 expression.

Pro-fibrotic and hypertrophic signalling in rat cardiomyocytes after adipose tissue stimulation

We further analysed whether fat stimulation could promote fibrotic or hypertrophic signalling in H9C2 cells: by analysing Yin Yang 1(YY1) and Myocyte-specific enhancer factor 2A (MEF2A). YY1 is a ubiquitous transcription factor, it belongs to the polycomb group protein family. It is a multifunctional zinc-finger transcription factor which can both activate or inhibit transcription, by acting as a transcriptional repressor, activator or initiator element binding protein in a context-dependent manner (116). A lot of of potential YY1 target genes have been identified which involve cell proliferation and differentiation including cancer development. In obesity it was showed that YY1 was up-regulated in hepatic tissue of both obese animals and NAFLD patients (117). Its up-regulation promotes triglyceride accumulation in adipocytes through repression of and Chop 10 16transcription and it increases serum triglyceride and free fatty acid levels. Interestingly, YY1 is increasingly reported to be relevant in pathologic conditions. Indeed it was found to be upregulated by kuster et al in the remodeled LV of swine post-MI (118) and in human heart failure, where Sucharov *et al* showed that YY1 acts as a negative regulator of αMvHC gene expression, leading to cardiac hypertrophy (119). Finally, the dual promoter region of ST2 allows the differential expression of the isoforms ST2L and sST2 as a result of a specific modulation due to cell-type or stress condition. The transcription is modulated by the binding of multiple transcription factors to as many consensus sites, including YY1 (120). When linked to the histone deacetylases HDAC4 they act as a co-repressor repressing the transcription of a given gene (121). Indeed, Ascension-Lopez et al demonstrated that YY1 and sST2 expression were correlated and up-regulated following myocardial infarct, and they are involved in pathological cardiac remodeling.

We observed a reduction in YY1 (Fig11a) due to VAT stimulation independently from the provenance of VAT tissue from lean (YY1 Mean CTR:1.060 ± 0.1479 $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$; mean Lean: 0.6352 ± 0.06292 $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$, p=0,0246). or from Obese animals (YY1 Mean ctr: 1.060 ± 0.14792^{- $\Delta\Delta CT$} versus mean Ob: 0.6066 ± 0.06778 $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$, p= 0,0192) and similarly a reduction of MEF2A (Fig11b) expression transcription factor linked to cell differentiation and hypertrophic response (mean ctr: 0.9577 ± 0.1016 $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ versus Lean 0.5371 ± 0.06221 $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$, p= 0,0055) and mean ctr 0.9577 ± 0.1016 $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ versus Ob 0.4861 ± 0.05685 $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$, p=0.0023) while

no differences arose between cells treated with VAT from Lean or Obese rats in YY1or MEF2A expression.

The reduction of YY1 was directly related to the reduction of Epac1 signalling (Fig11c) (p<0.001). These data suggest that adipose tissue promoted a reduction in hypertrophic /fibrotic signalling mediated by IL-33-mediated repression of Epac1 transcription. ST2L expression was also negatively related to YY1 expression suggesting that the reduction of ST2L is linked to a switch towards a fibrotic response. (Fig11d)



Figure 11: Conditioned medium from VAT tissue influenced hypertrophic/fibrotic signalling in cardiomyocytes. Graphs showed qPCR experiments with transwell between H9C2 cells and VAT tissue from Lean or Obese ZR. Fat stimulation reduced (a) YY1 expression in both Lean (p=0,0246) and Ob (p=0,0192) and (b) *MEF2A* expression in both Lean (p=0,0055) and (Ob p=0.0023) versus CTR. (c) Graph showed positive correlation between YY1 and Epac1 (p<0.001) while (d) negative correlation emerged between ST2L and YY1 (p<0.00329).

Modifiers of IL33/ST2 signalling:

In vitro Ghrelin stimulation of cardiomyocites

It is well accepted that Zucker rats present an increase in serum ghrelin (GHR) level (due to lacking of leptin signalling): GHR is principally secreted by gastric mucosa but also from cardiomyocytes, that normally present GHR receptor (122). This way, we decided to assess the effect of GHR stimulation on cardiomyocytes and whether GHR signalling could affect IL-33 release. We treated H9C2 cells GHR for 72h. We observed by means qPCR that starting from 48h of treatment (Ghrelin group) when cells became confluent - GHR stimulated IL-33 expression in H9C2 cells (IL-33 Ctr: 1.033 ± 0.13012^{-ΔΔCT} Ghrelin 1.381 ± 0.07609 2^{-ΔΔCT} p=0,0396) (Fig11a) and up-regulated Epac2 inducible form (Epac2 Ctr: 1.088 ± 0.2116 2-AACT Ghrelin 3.223 ± 0.1952 2-AACT p<0.0001) - but not Epac1 (Fig12a,c,b respectively). We observed the up-regulation of MEF2A, a transcription factor linked to myogenesis and hypertrophy (MEF2A Ctr:0.9169 ± 0.07739 2-AACT and Ghrelin: 1.298 ± 0.1275 2^{-ΔΔCT} p=0,0339) and of HDAC4 (HDAC4 Ctr:1.008 ± 0.05528 2^{-ΔΔCT} and Ghrelin:1.207±0.05009 2^{-ΔΔCT}, with p=0.0279) that together with YY1 (a fibrotic transcription factor) can stimulate sST2 transcription. However, we did not assess any change in YY1 expression (Ctr 1.014 \pm 0.07272 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ CT} and Ghrelin:1.066 \pm 0.06077 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ CT}, p= 0.5953). (Fig.12b)



Figure 12: *in vitro* Ghrelin treatment of H9C2 cells modulated IL-33 signalling. Graphs showed qPCR of H9C2 cell treated with ghrelin or vector at 72h. Ghrelin treatment enhanced (a) *IL-33* (p=0.0396) and (c) *Epac2* expression (p<0.0001), while (b) *Epac1* was unchanged. (d) Ghrelin treatment also induced *HDAC4* (p=0.0279) and (e) *MEF2A* (p=0.0339) while it did not alter *YY1* expression.

Indeed, we observed increased expression of GHR receptor (GHSR Ctr:1.327 ± 0.4312 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ CT} and Ghrelin: 3.494 ± 0.3827 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ CT}, with p=0.0044) and interestingly we showed an upregulation of sST2 (sST2 Ctr:0.8200 ± 0.1071 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ CT} and Ghrelin: 3.075 ± 0.2473 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ CT}, with p<0.0001) Conversely, we did not observe any difference in ST2 Ligand isoform (Ctr St2L: 1.077 ± 0.1904 and Ghrelin: 1.247 ± 0.05659 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ CT} p=0,4176) (Fig13b.)



Figure 13: *in vitro* **Ghrelin treatment of H9C2 cells modulated ST2 signalling.** Graphs showed qPCR of H9C2 cell treated with ghrelin or vector at 72h. Ghrelin treatment enhanced (a) *GHSR* expression (p=0.0044), while (b) *ST2L* was unaffected. (c) The *sST2* mRNA was greatly increased by ghrelin treatment (p<0.0001).

Characterization of Ghrelin-IL-33/ST2 axis in Zucker rat cardiac tissue

As we observed a Ghrelin-dependent increase in IL-33 expression in cardiomyocytes in vitro, that was link to up-regulation of sST2 and of MEF2A, we decided to assess the mRNA levels of all these targets in cardiac biopsies of ZR to verify that this pathway in also active in vivo. Unexpectedly, we did not observe important difference in mRNA expression of YY1 or MEF2A in cardiac biopsies of Ob versus Lean rats (Fig.14a and b). However, the expression of these two factors is slightly positive correlated (p=0.0054). (Fig.14d). Finally we evaluated the expression of GhR receptor (GHSR) as it was demonstrated that GHSR is a marker of heart failure (123). In heart homogenates we observed an increase of GHSR expression, confirming the activation of ghrelin signalling in Ob rats (GHSR Lean: 0.8259 ± 0.1240 and Ob: 2.606 ± 0.5754 , with p= 0.0362) (Fig.14.c)



Figure 14: Ghrelin-induced pathway analysis in ZF cardiac biopsies. Graphs showed qPCR of (a) YY1 and (b) *MEF2A* expression in cardiac biopsies of ZR. (c) *GHSR* mRNA was greatly increased *in vivo* in obese ZR (p=0,0362) while (d) a positive correlation was observed between MEF2A and YY1 in cardiac biopsies of ZR.

Characterization of IL-33/ST2 signalling in ZDF rats

Circulating level of II33/St2 signalling

Further inbreeding of ZF rats resulted in new phenotypes as the Zucker Diabetic rats (ZDF) that spontaneously develop insulin resistance, T2DM, hyperlipidaemia and moderate hypertension. Although we assessed a slight increase of weight in diabetic rats, they did not develop obesity (Mean L: $394.0 \pm 22.21g$ and Ob: $418.3 \pm 10.27g$) (Fig.15a).



Figure 15: IL-33/ST2 pathway analysis in serum of ZDF rats. Graphs showed (a) weight of rats at sacrifice, and (b) ELISA assay of serum ST2 (p=0.0206) and (c) IL-33.

To evaluate IL-33 and ST2 expression, we measured these proteins in serum through ELISA. We observed a slight increase of serum IL-33 (Mean L: 2.181 ± 0.1902 pg/ml and Ob: 2.476 ± 0.1036 pg/ml with p=0.1913 (Fig.15c) and a statistically significative increase of sST2 (Mean L: 1.177 ± 0.1267 pg/ml and Ob: 1.670 ± 0.08718 pg/ml, with p=0.0206) (Fig.15b). Finally, we did not observe any correlation between IL-33 circulating level and the weight of the rats.

Cardiac expression

In cardiac biopsies we observed a not significant decrease of IL-33 mRNA (mean ZDF: $0.8405 \pm 0.08304 \ 2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ and mean lean: $1.025 \pm 0.1145 \ 2^{-\Delta\Delta CT} \ p= 0,2543$) (Fig.16a), as further confirmed in WB analysis (Mean Lean: 0.7460 ± 0.06043 and ZDF: 0.5549 ± 0.07911 with p=0,1033) (Fig.17). qPCR showed a not significant decrease of ST2, but, conversely we observed an increase of both Epac1 (Mean ZDF: 1.279 ± 0.06931 , Lean: 0.9219 ± 0.1057 , with p=0.031) and Epac2 mRNA level (Mean ZDF: 1.605 ± 0.1115 , Lean 1.042 ± 0.1265 , with p=0.0142) (Fig.16c,d).



Figure 16: IL-33/ST2 pathway analysis in cardiac biopsies of ZDF rats. Graphs showed qPCR expression in cardiac biopsies of (a) *IL-33* and (b) *ST2*. Diabetics rats showed increased expression of both (c) *Epac1* (p=00301) and (d) *Epac2*.



Figure 17: IL-33 protein expression in cardiac biopsies of ZDF rats. Graphs showed WB quantification of IL-33 and vinculin in cardiac biopsies of ZDF rats.

Interestingly, in WB analysis we observed a reduction of ST2L ligand form, while sST2 was not modified, suggesting a reduction of cardioprotection linked to diabetes (ST2L Mean L: 0.9145 ± 0.2521 AU and Mean ZDF: 0.2406 ± 0.09399 p= 0,0579) as shown in Fig.18.

ST2L	Lean	ZDF	vinculin	TOF]		•		
					1 2 1.5		-T-		÷
572	1000	10.7	vinculin		In 1.0-	Ŧ	÷		-
•••					N2 0.5-	÷			
						•		干	
					0,000	ST2L	sST2	ST2L	sST2

Figure 18: ST2 isoform expression in cardiac biopsies of ZDF rats. (a) Graphs showed WB quantification of ST2 isoforms and vinculin,in cardiac biopsies of ZDF rats.

Fibrotic remodeling of diabetic heart

We investigated whether the IL-33/ST2 deregulation determined fibrotic modulation in diabetic heart. We analysed a panel of gene involved in matrix remodeling and we observed the activation of pro-fibrotic genes (overexpression of MMP2 COL2A TGF etc.). However, neither histologic analysis or WB experiments confirmed these preliminary evidences. Both levels of collagen 3 and TGF β were unchanged between Lean or diabetics cardiac biopsies. (Fig.19)



Figure 19: Analysis of fibrotic remodeling of cardiac biopsies of ZDF rats. Graphs showed (a) a panel of altered-profibrotic proteins and (b) WB quantification of TGF β , collagen3 isoform and vinculin in cardiac biopsies of ZDF rats.

Similar to previous results obtained in ZF rats, haematoxylin and Eosin staining did not reveal important morphological alterations and trichrome Masson staining did not highlight any area of focused collagen deposition, fiber necrosis nor ventricular dilatation of diabetic heart as shown in Fig.20.



Figure 20: Pictures of Hematoxylin and Eosin and Masson's staining of cardiac biopsies of ZDF rats. Histological analysis did not reveal marked alteration of cardiac architecture in diabetics versus lean rats.

Characterisation of IL-33/ST2 pathway in Diet induced obesity (DIO) mice

To avoid the genetic bias due to leptin receptor mutation present in ZR, we decided to reproduce our experiments in a naturally occurring animal model of obesity. Thanks to these experiments we could better reproduce human disease, and – by comparing obtained results with previous ones – we could also highlight deeper mechanism linked to IL-33/ST2 pathway. Thus, we choose the DIO mice.

Circulating levels of IL-33/ST2 in DIO mice

Diet-induced obese (DIO) C57BL/6J mice are a model of pre-diabetic type 2 diabetes and obesity with mildly elevated blood glucose and impaired glucose tolerance. After 20 weeks of either normal chow diet (Lean group) or high fat diet (Obese group) we collected serum to analyze II-33/ST2 signalling. In their serum we detected a decrease of sST2 and no difference in IL-33 circulating level. As expected, serum Leptin was increased in DIO mice (Mean L 40.22 \pm 5.065pg/ml and mean Ob: and leptin 932.1 \pm 71.0 pg/ml with p<0.0001), but no correlation existed with IL-33, while it negatively correlated to sST2 levels (Mean Lean 7.718 \pm 0.06444 pg/ml; mean Ob: 6.635 \pm 0.3007 pg/ml with p<0.0001); Spearman r= -0,8054 with p<0.0001) (Fig.21).



Figure 21: Circulating level of IL-33/ST2 and Leptin in DIO mice. Graphs (a) showed ELISA assay of serum IL-33 and (b) no significant correlation with leptin; (c) ELISA assay of ST2 (p=0.0206) and (d) negative correlation with leptin (p<0,0001).

Obesity alters inflammatory status in DIO mice

As it is known that obesity provokes a state of chronic low-grade inflammation, we analysed circulating level of both pro and anti-inflammatory cytokines. We did not observe significative differences in TNF α or IL-6 (data not shown); conversely, we observed an increase of FGF-21 (Mean L:184.0 ± 22.55pg/ml and Ob:11160 ± 1135pg/ml with p<0.0001) and a reduction

in IL-10 (Mean L:5.063 \pm 0.6454pg/ml and Ob: 3.008 \pm 0.6365 pg/ml with p=0.0326). On the contrary adiponectin and RAGE levels were unchanged. (Fig.22)



Figure 22: Circulating levels of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines in DIO mice. ELISA assay assessed up-regulation of serum (a) FGF-21 (p<0.0001) and (b) IL-10 (p=0.0326) in obese animals. (c) Adiponectin and (d) sRAGE were unchanged.

Adipose and cardiac expression of IL-33/ST2 pathway

HF diet altered the expression of IL-33/ ST2 pathway in visceral adipose tissue of obese mice. We observed a reduction of IL-33 expression (Mean L:0.3209 ± 0.03246 $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$; Ob:1.312 ± 0.4011 $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$, with p= 0,0140) and an increase in total ST2 (Mean L 2.696 ± 0.3184 $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$; Ob:1.094 ± 0.2204 $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$, with p=0,0023. Differently from cardiac tissue of obese ZR we observed an increase in Epac1 expression (Mean L 2.788 ± 0.5175 $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$; Ob:1.242 ± 0.3806 $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$, with p=0,0396). (Fig.23)



Figure 23: Analysis of visceral adipose expression of IL-33/ST2 pathway and Epac in DIO mice. qPCR graphs showed that fatty diet induced (a) reduction of *IL-33* expression (p=0,0140) while an increase of both (b) *ST2* (p=0,0023) and (c) *Epac1* (p=0,0396) in obese versus lean animals. (d) *Epac2* mRNA was unchanged.

These data were not confirmed in cardiac tissue of obese mice, further highlighting the important difference in IL-33/ST2 regulation depending on tissue and cell type considered. In cardiac tissue we observed an increase in Epac2 expression (Fig24) (Epac2 Mean L 2.466 \pm 0.4844 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ CT}; Ob:6.398 \pm 1.051 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ CT}, with p=0,0068)



Figure 24: Cardiac expression of IL-33/ST2 pathway in DIO mice. Graph showed qPCR expression of (a) *IL-33*, (b) *ST2* and (c) *Epac1* that were not altered by fatty diet in DIO. (d) *Epac2* mRNA level was increased in Obese mice versus lean ones (p=0,0068).

Impact of fatty diet on cardiac proteome of DIO mice

To analyse the effect of fatty diet on cardiac metabolism, we performed proteomic analysis of whole cardiac tissue, in collaboration with the group of Prof. Tedeschi. Thanks to a quantitative shotgun label-free strategy we compared the entire proteome of the whole heart of lean and obese group. Among the proteins identified we observed some proteins that were differently expressed between the groups. Among the protein up-regulated in obese group we observed TGF, DCn, Collagen, ColGA3, MBL2, Col15A1 and Interleukin A2m. On the contrary among proteins down-regulated in the obese group we found Collagen sec61alpha-collagenIV, prostaglandin PTGR2 and interleukin TIMM50. Further analysis revealed proteins expressed only in the heart of obese mice although at low level: Adamts1, adamts16, adamts19 and adamts7. All of them are metalloproteinase involved in matrix remodeling (124). The bioinformatic analysis, carried out on these proteins by Cluego and Panther software, demonstrated a great impact of the fatty diet on cardiac proteome. (Fig.25)

Among the enriched networks identified by String software and Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA) in HF hearts, we predict an impact on cardiac morphology as functional networks analysis shown an enrichment of pathways involved in fibrosis and left ventricular dilatation. The pathway involved are interconnected and regulates cardiovascular system development and disease. A further graphical representation of IPA analysis shows up-regulation of proteins involved in fatty acid metabolism and lipid transport, such as peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- α , γ (PPAR α and PPAR γ), and their linkage to pathways involved in the organisation of cytoplasm and the formation of muscle cells underlying the impact of lipid excess on energy metabolism and cardiac cell homeostasis. The results of bioinformatics analysis were summarised in Figure 26.



Figure 25: Cardiac proteome evaluation in DIO mice. Bioinformatic analysis by Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA) of the proteins differentially expressed in the comparisons between the high-fat and normal chow group in mice. Image showed enriched networks in heart tissue of obese DIO mice.

IPA also identified the cascade of upstream transcriptional regulators that can explain the changes occurring in protein expression: interestingly, one of the upstream regulators was the IL-33. In our network IL-33 could be an inhibitor linked to ACAT1, ApoE, EPHX2, IGHM, ITIH1, MYLK, MARKS and UCP1 proteins, that are collectively involved in energy and cholesterol metabolism, inflammation and matrix remodeling. Interestingly IL33 was already known to regulate expression of genes involved in cholesterol metabolism and the same indirect interaction between ApoE and IL-33 was observed through IPA in serum from asthma patients (125), supporting our results.



Figure 26: Graphical summary of the bioinformatic analysis of cardiac proteome in DIO mice. Increased proteins/processes are indicated in orange and decreased proteins/processes are indicated in blue

Obesity is a multifactorial condition characterized by fat accumulation. Although there is a wellknown association between obesity and cardiovascular pathology, the mechanism by which fat accumulation provokes heart remodeling is not definitely understood. In obesity there is an ectopic fat accumulation in the heart, called cardiac steatosis, that involves both the epicardium and the myofibers. Epicardial adipose tissue (EAT) shares blood supply with myofibers thus it represents a biologically active tissue that contributes to cardiac remodeling in pathological conditions, through secretion of adipokines. This fat storage physiologically protects myocardial homeostasis by the controlled release of FFA, adiponectin and orosomucoid (126) that exerts anti-oxidant effect. On the contrary, it enhances low-grade inflammation and diabetic vascular complications through the recruitment of monocytes and the release of retinol binding protein-4 or activin A (127). Recently, a few studies investigated the role of EAT in the regulation of myocardial metabolism. Firstly, Gruzdeva et al demonstrated a direct relation between EAT thickness and visceral obesity in a cohort of post-AMI patients. Indeed, they also determine a role for IL-33 system that correlates with fibrosis and maladaptive remodeling one year post IMA. Similarly, previous study from our group demonstrated a disbalance in IL33/ST2 expression in EAT tissue that correlates with ventricular remodeling and left ventricle dysfunction in CAD patients (96). In this sense, IL-33 signalling is known to exert a protective role in cardiovascular remodeling, in particular when released by necrotic cells after myocardial injury through the interaction with its receptor ST2L. On the contrary, the soluble form of ST2 receptor (sST2) binds IL-33, blocking its protective signalling. However, its role in obesity is still a matter of debate. Interestingly, IL33/ST2L signalling is involved in fat deposition: in obese human subjects, adipose tissue-resident endothelial cells increase expression of both IL-33 and ST2. However soluble ST2 serum levels are increased demonstrating a greater cardiovascular risk in human subject.

In this PhD project, we planned to evaluate the influence of adipose tissue on IL-33/ST2 pathway regulation and its role in cardiac steatosis and fibrotic remodeling in animal model of obesity. To deeply investigate the role of IL-33/ST2 signalling we decided to exploit different experimental models, both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Indeed, we characterized different animal models such as Zucker rats and DIO mice. By comparing several results in animals that arose from

different type of obesity (naturally developed or genetically induced), we were allowed to discriminate between different mechanisms of gene expression and regulation. Firstly, we characterized IL-33/ST2 expression in serum, cardiac and adipose tissue of Zucker rats, which harbor a mutation in the leptin receptor gene that blocks leptin signalling. We showed that obesity determined a dysregulation of IL33/ST2 pathway characterized by a reduction of serum IL33 and an increase of serum ST2 in Obese animals compared to lean controls. An opposite relation emerged between weight and circulating IL-33 in Lean versus Obese animals. Indeed IL-33 seems to increase with weight till reaching certain level, but - with increased fat accumulation in obese rats - it tends to decrease. However, as introduced above, the measurement of IL-33 in serum suffers from some limitations. The first is due to its rapid shorthalf life and its rapid clearance from the circulation by proteases. IL-33 could also be oxidized by reactive species and it is of particular interest in disease state such in obesity or smokers (states of increased ROS production). The assay has technical limitation due to antibody used, as it varies in affinity and it is unable to bind modified or oxidized IL-33. Finally, IL-33 availability depends on its binding to sST2, whose concentration is increased in obese rats: it is possible that the true circulating IL-33 was actually different. On the other hand, the assay of sST2 is considered reliable and it is now included in clinic for cardiovascular risk assessment.

In Obese Zucker rats IL-33 protein increased in cardiac and visceral adipose tissue (VAT), while ST2 only in VAT. Unfortunately, we failed to demonstrate a significative difference in ST2 isoforms expression, possibly due to high variability observed among samples, as cardiac biopsies could have randomly ventricular or atrial origin and ST2 expression could depend on cell type. In this sense ST2L and sST2 mRNA are expressed at low levels in cardiomyocytes and cardiac fibroblast, but they are highly expressed by the endothelium and ST2L is expressed on most immune cells. As we observed a dysregulation in IL-33/ST2 signalling we evaluated whether this condition determined a cardiac fibrotic response. In cardiac biopsies, increased expression of pro-fibrotic genes such as MMP8, MMP9 and TIMP - that regulates matrix degradation - indicated fibrotic remodeling in obese rats (128). These findings were further confirmed by increased TGF β and collagen deposition (measured by WB and Sircol red). However histological analysis (EE and Azan Mallory staining) showed comparably level of collagen deposition between lean ad obese rats and we could only observe some area of fat

infiltrates without significative modification of cardiac architecture. Similarly, we assessed the expression of IL-33/ST2 on cardiac tissue by immunohistochemical analysis, to evaluate difference in cell expression: we only confirmed the endothelial expression of IL-33 and ST2, while ST2 was also expressed on rare myofibers. Aberrant cAMP signalling contributes to pathological cardiac remodeling and heart failure by regulating intracellular calcium release (129). Besides the well-known PKA signalling, cAMP response could be mediated also by Epac protein (130). In the heart, Epac has been shown to play a role in Ca²⁺-handling and excitation-contraction coupling via phospholipase C, CaMKII, and PKC dependent signalling. Epac proteins are guanine-nucleotide-exchange factors (GEFs) and two principal isoforms exist: Epac1 mRNA is nearly ubiquitous while Epac2 isoform is mainly expressed in the brain and endocrine tissues, such in adipose tissue where it controls adipogenesis (131).

In the heart, Epac1 could be both a pro-fibrotic and an anti-fibrotic agent depending on cell type. Epac1 KO mice appear to be protected from cardiomyocytes hypertrophy, fibrosis, and cardiac dysfunction induced by different stress conditions - pressure overload and ischemia reperfusion model - while in fibroblasts Epac1 seems to inhibit TGF β -signalling. Interestingly they seem to have a role only in stress condition as Epac1- or Epac2-null mice did not show cardiac alterations (132, 133)

Several evidence indicated that CaMKII is a key effector of Epac1 hypertrophic signalling (134): following phosphorylation, it induces the nuclear export of HDAC4/5 thus relieving their inhibition on the pro-hypertrophic transcription factor MEF2A (135). Furthermore, in previous study from our group, we determined a positive correlation between Epac2 and IL-33 signalling in EAT tissue (96).

Thanks to these premises we decided to evaluate Epac1 expression in cardiac biopsies. In obese Zucker rats, we found reduced expression of Epac1 that was negatively related to IL-33 expression, suggesting a possible modulation of TGF β /MEF2A regulation of transcription. To evaluate whether adipokines from adipose tissue could directly influence cardiomyocytes metabolism we performed transwell experiment by coculturing H9C2 cells (a line of fetal cardiomyoblasts) with VAT derived from Lean or Obese Zucker rats. Fat stimulation caused IL-33 up-regulation that was higher following stimulation with adipose tissue from Ob rats while

ST2L expression was greatly increased following stimulation from Lean animals. Finally, in line with results obtained in Zucker rats, Epac1 expression was reduced by fat stimulation, negatively related to ST2L expression. According to these results, we demonstrated that IL-33/ST2 signalling is deregulated in obesity and, importantly, incorrect ST2L/sST2 balancing drove the pro-fibrotic switch in gene expression. Furthermore, fat stimulation could influence the expression of YY1 and MEF2A, that are transcription factor involved in stress and drive hypertrophic or fibrotic response. The complex mechanism that regulates the interplay between YY1/MEF2A and IL-33/ST2 are not understood. However, a direct correlation was evidenced between YY1 and Epac1 while it was negatively related to ST2L. Indeed, in literature is reported that YY1 can increase the transcription of sST2 (thanks to the presence of a consensus sites in its dual promoter region) and that this is involved in fibrotic remodeling of perinfarctual zones (120). Importantly, YY1 has also been involved in obesity where it promotes triglyceride accumulation (117). However, the genetic background of Zucker rats could influence our results, as leptin signalling - that is lacking - determines central and peripheral effects. Indeed, the ZDF rat has high levels of plasma leptin. Leptin is a hormone that is mainly produced in white adipose tissue by the mature adipocytes but it can also be released by brown adipose tissue, skeletal muscle, placenta, ovaries, bone marrow, stomach and other tissues, although in a lesser extent. It has a central effect in the hypothalamus where it regulates in satiety and food intake. However, leptin signalling was also considered to be involved in a variety of physiological processes as the regulation of energy homeostasis, thermogenesis, skeletal growth (136). In this sense, altered leptin signalling could be responsible of a multitude of consequences depending by expression of short intracellular forms of Ob-R in various peripheral tissues, where it, activates JAK/STAT pathway after homodimerization.

To overcome this limitation, we performed *in vitro* experiment trying to partially reproduce ZR condition on cardiomyoblasts in culture. We knew from literature that Zucker rats also present an increase in serum ghrelin (GHR) level (due to lacking of leptin signalling): GHR is principally secreted by gastric mucosa but also from cardiomyocytes, that normally present GHR receptor. This way, we decided to assess the effect of GHR stimulation on cardiomyocytes and whether GHR signalling could affect IL-33 release. We observed that GHR stimulated IL-33 expression in H9C2 cells and upregulated Epac2 inducible form – but not Epac1. Indeed, we observed

increased expression of GHR receptor and the up-regulation of MEF2A, a transcription factor linked to myogenesis and hypertrophy whose regulation is Epac-dependent. Interestingly we showed an upregulation of sST2 and HDAC4, that together with YY1 (a fibrotic transcription factor) can stimulate sST2 transcription.

Thanks to these results we reasoned on the effect of the combination of fat stimulation and ghrelin signalling in vivo on cardiomyocytes. The up-regulation of GHSR in ZF obese rats demonstrated the activation of this signalling in vivo, but we did not observe any difference between MEF2A and YY1 expression. These findings are probably the result of a ghrelin compensative pathway that counteracts the dysregulation of IL-33/Epac signalling. Similar results were obtained in Zucker diabetic rats, that result from a further inbreeding of Zucker rats: they presented moderate hypertension and diabetes but developed a less obese phenotypes. In line with our data, we observed increased expression of cardiac IL-33 and of sST2 and conserved architecture of left or right ventricle. Similar to Zucker rats, histological analysis did not evidence altered cardiac architecture, although the presence of pro-fibrotic gene expression. Interestingly we observed an increase of both Epac1 and Epac2 mRNA levels. In this sense Epac2 is involved in cAMP regulation of insulin secretion. Epac2 seems to potentiate insulin secretion by pancreatic β -cells (137). Indeed, Epac2 agonists are now viewed as possible therapeutic targets for lowering hyperglycemia (138). Accordingly, increased Epac2 in ZDF rats than in ZF rats could reflect a compensative response to the development of hyperglycaemia.

To avoid the genetic bias due to leptin receptor mutation, we decided to reproduce our experiments in DIO mice. The obesity in these mice is the result of a high calories and fat diet, thus it basically reproduces human pathology. This way we eliminated genetic bias due to leptin mutation in Zucker rats. In obese DIO mice sera, we detected a decrease of sST2 and no difference in IL-33 circulating level. As expected in a naturally occurring model of obesity, serum Leptin was increased and it was negatively related to serum sST2. Fat accumulation was accompanied by an inflammatory status characterized by increased serum FGF-21 and reduced IL-10. In adipose tissue we observed a decrease in IL-33 and an increase in ST2 and expression, but these findings were not confirmed in cardiac tissue where - on the opposite - we observed only an increase in Epac2 expression.

To further compare previous analysis in Zucker rats with DIO mice, we performed proteomic analysis of whole cardiac tissue. This analysis allowed us to analyze the effect of fatty diet not only IL-33/ST2 pathway but also on cardiac metabolism and functionality. Preliminary analysis through Cluego software revealed an up-regulation in HF mice of proteins involved in matrix remodeling (ADAMTS, MMP2). Among the enriched networks identified by String software and Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA) in HF hearts, we detected cardiovascular system development and disease networks. In particular, functional networks analysis suggested the presence of fibrosis and left ventricular dilatation while up-regulated processes in metabolism (fatty acid metabolism and lipid transport, PPAR α and PPAR γ). IPA also identified the cascade of upstream transcriptional regulators that can explain the changes occurring in protein expression: interestingly, one of the upstream regulators was the IL-33. In our network IL-33 could be an inhibitor linked to ACAT1, ApoE, EPHX2, IGHM, ITIH1, MYLK, MARKS and UCP1 proteins, that are collectively involved in energy and cholesterol metabolism, inflammation and matrix remodeling. Interestingly IL-33 was already known to regulate expression of genes involved in cholesterol metabolism and the same indirect interaction between ApoE and IL-33 was observed through IPA in serum from asthma patients (125) supporting our results.

Conclusions

To investigate the IL-33/ST2 signalling dysregulation and its effect during cardiac adiposity accumulation, we took advantage of different models of obesity both in vitro and in vivo. Although IL-33 is traditionally considered to be cardioprotective through the activation of its membrane receptor ST2L, some controversies exist. Indeed IL-33 exerts a less known role of repressor of transcription, thanks to its chromatin-binding motif that is supposed to function as a transcriptional repressor (2). The role of intranuclear IL-33 signalling in cardiac disease and in obesity is still under investigation: in this sense it was observed that IL-33 administration in healthy mice determine fibrosis (28). Thus, both pro- and anti-inflammatory actions have been ascribed to nuclear or extracellular IL-33 and - moreover - in many cell types, the role of nuclear IL33 is still unknown. IL-33 overproduction could also be related to pro-inflammatory cytokine release and auto-immunity. Here we showed that obese adipose tissue promoted IL-33 production both in vivo and in vitro. In Zucker rats, this pathway led to a ST2L reduction, suggesting that cardioprotection is lost despite IL-33 increase. Further analysis demonstrate that the overproduction of IL-33 determined a reduction of Epac1. In our model, ghrelin upregulation determined IL-33 over-expression: in this sense, IL-33 increase in cardiac tissue could represent a compensative pathway to counteract the excess of FFA or inflammation associated to increased adipocytes' size and mass. Although, chronic IL-33 overproduction will finally end in maladaptive remodeling, but in Zucker rats, ghrelin excess protects the heart by reducing apoptosis and promoting survival of cardiomyocytes. This pathway Is linked to the promotion of MEF2A. On the other hand, ghrelin stimulation enhanced sST2 production rather than ST2L, that will finally end in an increase of cardiovascular risk. Indeed, both ghrelin receptor and sST2 are involved in hypertrophic response related to stretch of cardiomyocytes in stress response. Furthermore, they are both considered as a marker of heart failure as they increased with severity of ventricular dysfunction in human disease (123). Obese Zucker rats presented a molecular signature of activated fibrotic response to fat accumulation but this is not translated in altered cardiac architecture due to the compensative response of IL-33 and ghrelin, although at the stage considered in these experiments. Thus, the effect of IL-33 signal in our model seems to be protective and increased following ghrelin stimulation, but its activation also promoted sST2 expression, counteracting the protective effect. In this sense it

was postulated that IL-33 is highly dependent on cellular and temporal expression, as an example in liver fibrosis, opposite effects of IL-33 were observed: tissue-protective mechanisms when acute and massive liver damage occurs and pro-fibrotic hepatic factor in cases of chronic injury (139).

On the other hands, obesity in DIO mice exerted different effects on IL-33/ST2 pathway. Indeed, we observed the IL-33 transcriptional role in promoting cardiac remodeling through the modulation of pathways linked to fatty acid oxidation, metabolism and matrix remodeling. In this sense several works reported that IL-33 influenced gene and protein expression, but it was recently demonstrated that it acts independently of its nuclear localization (3, 7, 140). However it was assessed that IL-33 could regulate interstitial cell extracellular matrix deposition in fibroblast injury (141) and that it is correlated to genes involved in DNA repair or mitochondrial function (142). Finally, as we mentioned above, IL-33 was linked to cholesterol regulation and ApoE in asthma patients.

Conflicting results in literature reported high or low level of IL-33 depending on animal model, tissue analyzed, acute or chronic condition considered. As an example expression of IL-33 mRNA was increased in adipose tissue of obese Wistar rats (65) while it was reduced in obese Zucker rats (68). Kai revealed opposite IL-33 mRNA expression in DIO mice between SAT and epididimal VAT, suggesting that tissue-resident IL-33 may play different roles. Exogenous administration of IL-33 for a limited time, seems to be protective in obesogenic condition in mice (67) where its effects are probably mediated by ST2L receptor and modulated by inflammation. However chronic uncontrolled IL-33 upregulation (endogenous or exogenous) could determine unexpected effects via nuclear signalling in different tissue such as the heart. In this sense, administration of IL-33 in healthy mice determines pericarditis (47). Interestingly IL-33 signalling could be referred to the "obesity paradox", as being overweight or obese is associated with a favorable prognosis while having increased cardiovascular risk. Similarly, overweight condition will promote IL-33 signalling and ameliorate low-grade inflammation while increasing cardiovascular risk through increased sST2. Our data confirmed that therapeutic consideration cannot be postulated without considering the model used in the experiments and highlighted that the consideration of a protective role of IL-33 is probably over-simplistic.

In this project we further highlight a role for Epac protein in heart remodeling and their link to IL-33/ST2 pathway. However, in cardiac tissue the over-expression of IL-33 and the downregulation of Epac1 could affect not only muscular cells but also resident cells such as fibroblasts and endothelium. The role of Epac1 seems to depend on cell type, with opposite role in fibroblasts - where it has an anti-fibrotic role mediated by the inhibition of TGF- β - and in cardiomyocytes - where it activates MEF2A response: this way, further experiments are needed to evaluate their exact role in Obese Zucker rats cardiac remodeling or in other models of obesity, as proteomic analysis in DIO mice did not confirm their role.

Different limitations emerged during this PhD project. Firstly, this project arose from previous studies published in my lab about the deregulation of epicardial adipose tissue in obese human subjects. It was planned in the attempt of overcoming difficulties coming from the availability of human samples, in particular of healthy epicardial tissues. Accordingly, we evaluated this signalling pathway in animal models of obesity, the Zucker rat. Unfortunately, we realized soon during the Project that this model poorly recapitulates human pathology in terms of heart failure development. In fact, Zucker rats did not present an important expansion of epicardial adipose tissue nor significant dysfunctions of left ventricle. To overcame these issues, we performed in vitro study, coculturing adipose tissue and cardiomyoblasts to reproduce shared bloody supply between epicardial adipose tissue and myocardium in vivo. Finally, since Zucker rats presented a mutation in leptin receptor, we counteract this genetic bias switching to a different animal model: the Diet Induced Obesity mice. DIO mice avoid the background of altered leptin and GHR signalling - that could influence the IL-33/ST2 pathway thus representing the main goal of our study. A second point is the small sample size considered for Zucker and Zucker Diabetics rats, this fact was due to technical issues linked to Ministerial rules on ethical animal experimentation and to the need to perform multiple analysis (both histological and molecular analysis) that forced us to divided the animals in smaller groups. As this limitation was not surmountable during my PhD project we performed in vitro experiments, trying to reproduce our data in vitro.

Finally, this project is still ongoing to assess proteomic findings in DIO mice, in particular by confirming fibrotic and ventricular dilatation predicted by enriched network analysis and by deeply investigating the role of IL-33 as an up-stream regulator. In addition, to decipher the role

Conclusions

of Epac signalling in this context, we have planned to exploit pharmacological inhibitor of Epac1 in vitro.

In conclusion, with our approach, we had the opportunity to decipher the fundamental molecular pathways underlying IL33/ST2-obesity axis and provide the scientific community with valuable insights to counteract their pro-inflammatory effects.

Acknowledgments

This work has been supported by Italian Ministry of Health and by fellowship provided by Università degli Studi di Milano. I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my Professor and Tutor Prof. Massimiliano Marco Corsi Romanelli, for both giving me this opportunity and providing me advise and support. I would like to express my deepest appreciation to Prof. Claudio Clemente and its team - especially Dr Antonia Sansone - at Anatomic Pathology Service of IRCCS Ospedale Policlinico San Donato for their precious collaboration in morphological studies. I am deeply indebted to Prof. Tedeschi and her team for performing proteomic analysis. I am also grateful to my classmates and cohort members and my lab mates, especially Dr. Elena Vianello for their editing and technical help. Thank should also go to Camilla Mocchi for her important cooperation and for her always bright presence and funny company. Lastly, I would be remiss in not mentioning my family, especially my husband and children. Their support has kept my spirits and motivation high during this process.

References

1. Baekkevold ES, Roussigne M, Yamanaka T, Johansen FE, Jahnsen FL, Amalric F, et al. Molecular characterization of NF-HEV, a nuclear factor preferentially expressed in human high endothelial venules. The American journal of pathology. 2003 Jul;163(1):69-79. PubMed PMID: 12819012. Pubmed Central PMCID: 1868188.

2. Carriere V, Roussel L, Ortega N, Lacorre DA, Americh L, Aguilar L, et al. IL-33, the IL-1-like cytokine ligand for ST2 receptor, is a chromatin-associated nuclear factor in vivo. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2007 Jan 2;104(1):282-7. PubMed PMID: 17185418. Pubmed Central PMCID: 1765450.

3. Cayrol C, Girard JP. Interleukin-33 (IL-33): A critical review of its biology and the mechanisms involved in its release as a potent extracellular cytokine. Cytokine. 2022 Aug;156:155891. PubMed PMID: 35640416.

4. Liew FY, Girard JP, Turnquist HR. Interleukin-33 in health and disease. Nature reviews Immunology. 2016 Nov;16(11):676-89. PubMed PMID: 27640624.

5. Bessa J, Meyer CA, de Vera Mudry MC, Schlicht S, Smith SH, Iglesias A, et al. Altered subcellular localization of IL-33 leads to non-resolving lethal inflammation. Journal of autoimmunity. 2014 Dec;55:33-41. PubMed PMID: 24786898.

6. Choi YS, Choi HJ, Min JK, Pyun BJ, Maeng YS, Park H, et al. Interleukin-33 induces angiogenesis and vascular permeability through ST2/TRAF6-mediated endothelial nitric oxide production. Blood. 2009 Oct 1;114(14):3117-26. PubMed PMID: 19661270.

7. Gautier V, Cayrol C, Farache D, Roga S, Monsarrat B, Burlet-Schiltz O, et al. Extracellular IL-33 cytokine, but not endogenous nuclear IL-33, regulates protein expression in endothelial cells. Scientific reports. 2016 Oct 3;6:34255. PubMed PMID: 27694941. Pubmed Central PMCID: 5046127.

8. Travers J, Rochman M, Miracle CE, Habel JE, Brusilovsky M, Caldwell JM, et al. Chromatin regulates IL-33 release and extracellular cytokine activity. Nature communications. 2018 Aug 14;9(1):3244. PubMed PMID: 30108214. Pubmed Central PMCID: 6092330.

9. Kuchler AM, Pollheimer J, Balogh J, Sponheim J, Manley L, Sorensen DR, et al. Nuclear interleukin-33 is generally expressed in resting endothelium but rapidly lost upon angiogenic or

proinflammatory activation. The American journal of pathology. 2008 Oct;173(4):1229-42. PubMed PMID: 18787100. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2543089.

10. Moussion C, Ortega N, Girard JP. The IL-1-like cytokine IL-33 is constitutively expressed in the nucleus of endothelial cells and epithelial cells in vivo: a novel 'alarmin'? PLoS One. 2008 Oct 6;3(10):e3331. PubMed PMID: 18836528. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2556082.

11. Barbier L, Robin A, Sindayigaya R, Ducousso H, Dujardin F, Thierry A, et al. Endogenous Interleukin-33 Acts as an Alarmin in Liver Ischemia-Reperfusion and Is Associated With Injury After Human Liver Transplantation. Frontiers in immunology. 2021;12:744927. PubMed PMID: 34621275. Pubmed Central PMCID: 8491545.

12. Chen YW, Nagaraju K, Bakay M, McIntyre O, Rawat R, Shi R, et al. Early onset of inflammation and later involvement of TGFbeta in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Neurology. 2005 Sep 27;65(6):826-34. PubMed PMID: 16093456.

13. Sedhom MA, Pichery M, Murdoch JR, Foligne B, Ortega N, Normand S, et al. Neutralisation of the interleukin-33/ST2 pathway ameliorates experimental colitis through enhancement of mucosal healing in mice. Gut. 2013 Dec;62(12):1714-23. PubMed PMID: 23172891. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3841767.

14. Prefontaine D, Nadigel J, Chouiali F, Audusseau S, Semlali A, Chakir J, et al. Increased IL-33 expression by epithelial cells in bronchial asthma. The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology. 2010 Mar;125(3):752-4. PubMed PMID: 20153038.

15. Ferhat M, Robin A, Giraud S, Sena S, Goujon JM, Touchard G, et al. Endogenous IL-33 Contributes to Kidney Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury as an Alarmin. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN. 2018 Apr;29(4):1272-88. PubMed PMID: 29436517. Pubmed Central PMCID: 5875946.

16. Han H, Roan F, Johnston LK, Smith DE, Bryce PJ, Ziegler SF. IL-33 promotes gastrointestinal allergy in a TSLP-independent manner. Mucosal immunology. 2018 Mar;11(2):394-403. PubMed PMID: 28656964. Pubmed Central PMCID: 5745299.

17. Lefrancais E, Duval A, Mirey E, Roga S, Espinosa E, Cayrol C, et al. Central domain of IL-33 is cleaved by mast cell proteases for potent activation of group-2 innate lymphoid cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2014 Oct 28;111(43):15502-7. PubMed PMID: 25313073. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4217470.

18. Byers DE, Alexander-Brett J, Patel AC, Agapov E, Dang-Vu G, Jin X, et al. Long-term IL-33-producing epithelial progenitor cells in chronic obstructive lung disease. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2013 Sep;123(9):3967-82. PubMed PMID: 23945235. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3754239.

19. Hardman CS, Panova V, McKenzie AN. IL-33 citrine reporter mice reveal the temporal and spatial expression of IL-33 during allergic lung inflammation. Eur J Immunol. 2013 Feb;43(2):488-98. PubMed PMID: 23169007. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3734634.

20. Luthi AU, Cullen SP, McNeela EA, Duriez PJ, Afonina IS, Sheridan C, et al. Suppression of interleukin-33 bioactivity through proteolysis by apoptotic caspases. Immunity. 2009 Jul 17;31(1):84-98. PubMed PMID: 19559631.

21. Talabot-Ayer D, Lamacchia C, Gabay C, Palmer G. Interleukin-33 is biologically active independently of caspase-1 cleavage. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2009 Jul 17;284(29):19420-6. PubMed PMID: 19465481. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2740567.

22. Lefrancais E, Roga S, Gautier V, Gonzalez-de-Peredo A, Monsarrat B, Girard JP, et al. IL-33 is processed into mature bioactive forms by neutrophil elastase and cathepsin G. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2012 Jan 31;109(5):1673-8. PubMed PMID: 22307629. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3277172.

23. Scott IC, Majithiya JB, Sanden C, Thornton P, Sanders PN, Moore T, et al. Interleukin-33 is activated by allergen- and necrosis-associated proteolytic activities to regulate its alarmin activity during epithelial damage. Scientific reports. 2018 Feb 20;8(1):3363. PubMed PMID: 29463838. Pubmed Central PMCID: 5820248.

24. Cayrol C, Duval A, Schmitt P, Roga S, Camus M, Stella A, et al. Environmental allergens induce allergic inflammation through proteolytic maturation of IL-33. Nat Immunol. 2018 Apr;19(4):375-85. PubMed PMID: 29556000.

25. Uchida M, Anderson EL, Squillace DL, Patil N, Maniak PJ, Iijima K, et al. Oxidative stress serves as a key checkpoint for IL-33 release by airway epithelium. Allergy. 2017 Oct;72(10):1521-31. PubMed PMID: 28273344. Pubmed Central PMCID: 5591045.

26. Ni Y, Tao L, Chen C, Song H, Li Z, Gao Y, et al. The Deubiquitinase USP17 Regulates the Stability and Nuclear Function of IL-33. International journal of molecular sciences. 2015 Nov 24;16(11):27956-66. PubMed PMID: 26610488. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4661921.

27. Tao L, Chen C, Song H, Piccioni M, Shi G, Li B. Deubiquitination and stabilization of IL-33 by USP21. International journal of clinical and experimental pathology. 2014;7(8):4930-7. PubMed PMID: 25197364. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4152054.

28. Altara R, Ghali R, Mallat Z, Cataliotti A, Booz GW, Zouein FA. Conflicting vascular and metabolic impact of the IL-33/sST2 axis. Cardiovascular research. 2018 Oct 1;114(12):1578-94. PubMed PMID: 29982301.

29. Werenskiold AK, Hoffmann S, Klemenz R. Induction of a mitogen-responsive gene after expression of the Ha-ras oncogene in NIH 3T3 fibroblasts. Molecular and cellular biology. 1989 Nov;9(11):5207-14. PubMed PMID: 2689874. Pubmed Central PMCID: 363673.

30. Tago K, Ohta S, Funakoshi-Tago M, Aoki-Ohmura C, Matsugi J, Tominaga SI, et al. STAT3 and ERK pathways are involved in cell growth stimulation of the ST2/IL1RL1 promoter. FEBS open bio. 2017 Feb;7(2):293-302. PubMed PMID: 28174694. Pubmed Central PMCID: 5292660.

31. Tominaga S, Inazawa J, Tsuji S. Assignment of the human ST2 gene to chromosome 2 at q11.2. Human genetics. 1996 May;97(5):561-3. PubMed PMID: 8655130.

32. Kumar S, Tzimas MN, Griswold DE, Young PR. Expression of ST2, an interleukin-1 receptor homologue, is induced by proinflammatory stimuli. Biochemical and biophysical research communications. 1997 Jun 27;235(3):474-8. PubMed PMID: 9207179.

33. Dinarello CA. Immunological and inflammatory functions of the interleukin-1 family. Annual review of immunology. 2009;27:519-50. PubMed PMID: 19302047.

34. Dinarello CA, Simon A, van der Meer JW. Treating inflammation by blocking interleukin1 in a broad spectrum of diseases. Nature reviews Drug discovery. 2012 Aug;11(8):633-52.
PubMed PMID: 22850787. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3644509.

35. Boga S, Alkim H, Koksal AR, Ozagari AA, Bayram M, Tekin Neijmann S, et al. Serum ST2 in inflammatory bowel disease: a potential biomarker for disease activity. Journal of investigative medicine : the official publication of the American Federation for Clinical Research. 2016 Jun;64(5):1016-24. PubMed PMID: 27001944.

36. Bergis D, Kassis V, Radeke HH. High plasma sST2 levels in gastric cancer and their association with metastatic disease. Cancer biomarkers : section A of Disease markers. 2016;16(1):117-25. PubMed PMID: 26835712.
37. Klemenz R, Hoffmann S, Werenskiold AK. Serum- and oncoprotein-mediated induction of a gene with sequence similarity to the gene encoding carcinoembryonic antigen. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1989 Aug;86(15):5708-12. PubMed PMID: 2527364. Pubmed Central PMCID: 297699.

38. Lingel A, Weiss TM, Niebuhr M, Pan B, Appleton BA, Wiesmann C, et al. Structure of IL-33 and its interaction with the ST2 and IL-1RAcP receptors--insight into heterotrimeric IL-1 signalling complexes. Structure. 2009 Oct 14;17(10):1398-410. PubMed PMID: 19836339. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2766095.

39. Shen JX, Liu J, Zhang GJ. Interleukin-33 in Malignancies: Friends or Foes? Frontiers in immunology. 2018;9:3051. PubMed PMID: 30619376. Pubmed Central PMCID: 6306406.

40. Nakanishi W, Yamaguchi S, Matsuda A, Suzukawa M, Shibui A, Nambu A, et al. IL-33, but not IL-25, is crucial for the development of house dust mite antigen-induced allergic rhinitis. PLoS One. 2013;8(10):e78099. PubMed PMID: 24205109. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3808342.

41. Smithgall MD, Comeau MR, Yoon BR, Kaufman D, Armitage R, Smith DE. IL-33 amplifies both Th1- and Th2-type responses through its activity on human basophils, allergenreactive Th2 cells, iNKT and NK cells. Int Immunol. 2008 Aug;20(8):1019-30. PubMed PMID: 18550585.

42. Kakkar R, Lee RT. The IL-33/ST2 pathway: therapeutic target and novel biomarker. Nature reviews Drug discovery. 2008 Oct;7(10):827-40. PubMed PMID: 18827826. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4277436.

43. Demyanets S, Kaun C, Pentz R, Krychtiuk KA, Rauscher S, Pfaffenberger S, et al. Components of the interleukin-33/ST2 system are differentially expressed and regulated in human cardiac cells and in cells of the cardiac vasculature. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2013 Jul;60:16-26. PubMed PMID: 23567618. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3683148.

44. Peine M, Marek RM, Lohning M. IL-33 in T Cell Differentiation, Function, and Immune Homeostasis. Trends in immunology. 2016 May;37(5):321-33. PubMed PMID: 27055914.

45. Rui T, Tang Q. IL-33 attenuates anoxia/reoxygenation-induced cardiomyocyte apoptosis by inhibition of PKCbeta/JNK pathway. PLoS One. 2013;8(2):e56089. PubMed PMID: 23457506. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3573011.

73

46. Seki K, Sanada S, Kudinova AY, Steinhauser ML, Handa V, Gannon J, et al. Interleukin-33 prevents apoptosis and improves survival after experimental myocardial infarction through ST2 signalling. Circulation Heart failure. 2009 Nov;2(6):684-91. PubMed PMID: 19919994.

47. Abston ED, Barin JG, Cihakova D, Bucek A, Coronado MJ, Brandt JE, et al. IL-33 independently induces eosinophilic pericarditis and cardiac dilation: ST2 improves cardiac function. Circulation Heart failure. 2012 May 1;5(3):366-75. PubMed PMID: 22454393. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3874395.

48. Ho JE, Chen WY, Chen MH, Larson MG, McCabe EL, Cheng S, et al. Common genetic variation at the IL1RL1 locus regulates IL-33/ST2 signalling. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2013 Oct;123(10):4208-18. PubMed PMID: 23999434. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3784527.

49. Ridker PM, Everett BM, Thuren T, MacFadyen JG, Chang WH, Ballantyne C, et al. Antiinflammatory Therapy with Canakinumab for Atherosclerotic Disease. The New England journal of medicine. 2017 Sep 21;377(12):1119-31. PubMed PMID: 28845751.

50. Ridker PM, MacFadyen JG, Thuren T, Everett BM, Libby P, Glynn RJ, et al. Effect of interleukin-1beta inhibition with canakinumab on incident lung cancer in patients with atherosclerosis: exploratory results from a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet. 2017 Oct 21;390(10105):1833-42. PubMed PMID: 28855077.

51. Tsapaki A, Zaravinos A, Apostolakis S, Voudris K, Vogiatzi K, Kochiadakis GE, et al. Genetic variability of the distal promoter of the ST2 gene is associated with angiographic severity of coronary artery disease. Journal of thrombosis and thrombolysis. 2010 Oct;30(3):365-71. PubMed PMID: 20602249.

52. Tu X, Nie S, Liao Y, Zhang H, Fan Q, Xu C, et al. The IL-33-ST2L pathway is associated with coronary artery disease in a Chinese Han population. American journal of human genetics. 2013 Oct 3;93(4):652-60. PubMed PMID: 24075188. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3791271.

53. Angeles-Martinez J, Posadas-Sanchez R, Llorente L, Alvarez-Leon E, Ramirez-Bello J, Villarreal-Molina T, et al. The rs7044343 Polymorphism of the Interleukin 33 Gene Is Associated with Decreased Risk of Developing Premature Coronary Artery Disease and Central Obesity, and Could Be Involved in Regulating the Production of IL-33. PLoS One. 2017;12(1):e0168828. PubMed PMID: 28045954. Pubmed Central PMCID: 5207498.

54. Liu CL, Shen DL, Zhu K, Tang JN, Hai QM, Zhang JY. Levels of interleukin-33 and interleukin-6 in patients with acute coronary syndrome or stable angina. Clinical and investigative medicine Medecine clinique et experimentale. 2013 Aug 1;36(4):E234-41. PubMed PMID: 23906495.

55. Liu CL, Shen DL, Zhu K, Tang JN, Wang XF, Zhang L, et al. Characterization of interleukin-33 and matrix metalloproteinase-28 in serum and their association with disease severity in patients with coronary heart disease. Coronary artery disease. 2014 Sep;25(6):498-504. PubMed PMID: 24710352.

56. Kaplan A, Abidi E, Ghali R, Booz GW, Kobeissy F, Zouein FA. Functional, Cellular, and Molecular Remodeling of the Heart under Influence of Oxidative Cigarette Tobacco Smoke. Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity. 2017;2017:3759186. PubMed PMID: 28808498. Pubmed Central PMCID: 5541812.

57. Qiu C, Li Y, Li M, Li M, Liu X, McSharry C, et al. Anti-interleukin-33 inhibits cigarette smoke-induced lung inflammation in mice. Immunology. 2013 Jan;138(1):76-82. PubMed PMID: 23078031. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3533703.

58. Schernthaner C, Lichtenauer M, Wernly B, Paar V, Pistulli R, Rohm I, et al. Multibiomarker analysis in patients with acute myocardial infarction. European journal of clinical investigation. 2017 Sep;47(9):638-48. PubMed PMID: 28683166.

59. Coglianese EE, Larson MG, Vasan RS, Ho JE, Ghorbani A, McCabe EL, et al. Distribution and clinical correlates of the interleukin receptor family member soluble ST2 in the Framingham Heart Study. Clinical chemistry. 2012 Dec;58(12):1673-81. PubMed PMID: 23065477. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3557515.

60. Placido R, Cortez-Dias N, Robalo Martins S, Gomes Almeida A, Calisto C, Goncalves S, et al. Prognostic stratification in pulmonary hypertension: A multi-biomarker approach. Revista portuguesa de cardiologia : orgao oficial da Sociedade Portuguesa de Cardiologia = Portuguese journal of cardiology : an official journal of the Portuguese Society of Cardiology. 2017 Feb;36(2):111-25. PubMed PMID: 28117181. Estratificacao prognostica na hipertensao pulmonar: valor acrescido da abordagem multibiomarcadores.

61. Huang A, Glick SA. Genetic susceptibility to cutaneous radiation injury. Archives of dermatological research. 2017 Jan;309(1):1-10. PubMed PMID: 27878387.

62. Miller AM, Purves D, McConnachie A, Asquith DL, Batty GD, Burns H, et al. Soluble ST2 associates with diabetes but not established cardiovascular risk factors: a new inflammatory pathway of relevance to diabetes? PLoS One. 2012;7(10):e47830. PubMed PMID: 23112853. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3480428.

63. Weir RA, Miller AM, Murphy GE, Clements S, Steedman T, Connell JM, et al. Serum soluble ST2: a potential novel mediator in left ventricular and infarct remodeling after acute myocardial infarction. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2010 Jan 19;55(3):243-50. PubMed PMID: 20117403.

64. Homsak E, Gruson D. Soluble ST2: A complex and diverse role in several diseases. Clin Chim Acta. 2020 Aug;507:75-87. PubMed PMID: 32305537.

65. Martinez-Martinez E, Cachofeiro V, Rousseau E, Alvarez V, Calvier L, Fernandez-Celis A, et al. Interleukin-33/ST2 system attenuates aldosterone-induced adipogenesis and inflammation. Molecular and cellular endocrinology. 2015 Aug 15;411:20-7. PubMed PMID: 25896545.

66. Wood IS, Wang B, Trayhurn P. IL-33, a recently identified interleukin-1 gene family member, is expressed in human adipocytes. Biochemical and biophysical research communications. 2009 Jun 19;384(1):105-9. PubMed PMID: 19393621.

67. Kai Y, Gao J, Liu H, Wang Y, Tian C, Guo S, et al. Effects of IL-33 on 3T3-L1 cells and obese mice models induced by a high-fat diet. International immunopharmacology. 2021 Dec;101(Pt A):108209. PubMed PMID: 34624652.

68. Ragusa R, Cabiati M, Guzzardi MA, D'Amico A, Giannessi D, Del Ry S, et al. Effects of obesity on IL-33/ST2 system in heart, adipose tissue and liver: study in the experimental model of Zucker rats. Experimental and molecular pathology. 2017 Apr;102(2):354-9. PubMed PMID: 28274612.

69. Hasan A, Al-Ghimlas F, Warsame S, Al-Hubail A, Ahmad R, Bennakhi A, et al. IL-33 is negatively associated with the BMI and confers a protective lipid/metabolic profile in nondiabetic but not diabetic subjects. BMC immunology. 2014 May 10;15:19. PubMed PMID: 24886535. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4053278.

70. Tang H, Liu N, Feng X, Yang Y, Fang Y, Zhuang S, et al. Circulating levels of IL-33 are elevated by obesity and positively correlated with metabolic disorders in Chinese adults.

Journal of translational medicine. 2021 Feb 4;19(1):52. PubMed PMID: 33541367. Pubmed Central PMCID: 7863234.

71. Zeyda M, Wernly B, Demyanets S, Kaun C, Hammerle M, Hantusch B, et al. Severe obesity increases adipose tissue expression of interleukin-33 and its receptor ST2, both predominantly detectable in endothelial cells of human adipose tissue. International journal of obesity. 2013 May;37(5):658-65. PubMed PMID: 22828942.

72. Odegaard JI, Lee MW, Sogawa Y, Bertholet AM, Locksley RM, Weinberg DE, et al. Perinatal Licensing of Thermogenesis by IL-33 and ST2. Cell. 2016 Aug 11;166(4):841-54. PubMed PMID: 27453471. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4985267.

73. Miller AM, Asquith DL, Hueber AJ, Anderson LA, Holmes WM, McKenzie AN, et al. Interleukin-33 induces protective effects in adipose tissue inflammation during obesity in mice. Circ Res. 2010 Sep 3;107(5):650-8. PubMed PMID: 20634488. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4254700.

74. Han JM, Wu D, Denroche HC, Yao Y, Verchere CB, Levings MK. IL-33 Reverses an Obesity-Induced Deficit in Visceral Adipose Tissue ST2+ T Regulatory Cells and Ameliorates Adipose Tissue Inflammation and Insulin Resistance. Journal of immunology. 2015 May 15;194(10):4777-83. PubMed PMID: 25870243.

75. Lin YH, Zhang RC, Hou LB, Wang KJ, Ye ZN, Huang T, et al. Distribution and clinical association of plasma soluble ST2 during the development of type 2 diabetes. Diabetes research and clinical practice. 2016 Aug;118:140-5. PubMed PMID: 27371779.

76. Zhao XY, Zhou L, Chen Z, Ji Y, Peng X, Qi L, et al. The obesity-induced adipokine sST2 exacerbates adipose Treg and ILC2 depletion and promotes insulin resistance. Science advances. 2020 May;6(20):eaay6191. PubMed PMID: 32426492. Pubmed Central PMCID: 7220368.

77. Mandviwala T, Khalid U, Deswal A. Obesity and Cardiovascular Disease: a Risk Factor or a Risk Marker? Current atherosclerosis reports. 2016 May;18(5):21. PubMed PMID: 26973130.

78. Powell-Wiley TM, Poirier P, Burke LE, Despres JP, Gordon-Larsen P, Lavie CJ, et al. Obesity and Cardiovascular Disease: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2021 May 25;143(21):e984-e1010. PubMed PMID: 33882682. Pubmed Central PMCID: 8493650.

79. Antonopoulos AS, Margaritis M, Coutinho P, Shirodaria C, Psarros C, Herdman L, et al. Adiponectin as a link between type 2 diabetes and vascular NADPH oxidase activity in the human arterial wall: the regulatory role of perivascular adipose tissue. Diabetes. 2015 Jun;64(6):2207-19. PubMed PMID: 25552596.

80. Marchington JM, Pond CM. Site-specific properties of pericardial and epicardial adipose tissue: the effects of insulin and high-fat feeding on lipogenesis and the incorporation of fatty acids in vitro. Int J Obes. 1990 Dec;14(12):1013-22. PubMed PMID: 2086494.

81. Sacks HS, Fain JN, Holman B, Cheema P, Chary A, Parks F, et al. Uncoupling protein-1 and related messenger ribonucleic acids in human epicardial and other adipose tissues: epicardial fat functioning as brown fat. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2009 Sep;94(9):3611-5. PubMed PMID: 19567523.

82. Chiou CW, Eble JN, Zipes DP. Efferent vagal innervation of the canine atria and sinus and atrioventricular nodes. The third fat pad. Circulation. 1997 Jun 3;95(11):2573-84. PubMed PMID: 9184589.

83. Wang Y, Tao L, Yuan Y, Lau WB, Li R, Lopez BL, et al. Cardioprotective effect of adiponectin is partially mediated by its AMPK-independent antinitrative action. American journal of physiology Endocrinology and metabolism. 2009 Aug;297(2):E384-91. PubMed PMID: 19470831. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2724120.

84. Lage R, Moscoso I, Fernandez-Trasancos A, Cebro M, Couselo M, Fandino-Vaquero R, et al. Differential behaviour of epicardial adipose tissue-secretomes with high and low orosomucoid levels from patients with cardiovascular disease in H9C2 cells. Molecular and cellular endocrinology. 2015 Nov 15;416:77-87. PubMed PMID: 26343163.

85. Karastergiou K, Evans I, Ogston N, Miheisi N, Nair D, Kaski JC, et al. Epicardial adipokines in obesity and coronary artery disease induce atherogenic changes in monocytes and endothelial cells. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology. 2010 Jul;30(7):1340-6. PubMed PMID: 20395594.

86. Uchida Y, Uchida Y, Shimoyama E, Hiruta N, Kishimoto T, Watanabe S. Pericoronary Adipose Tissue as Storage and Supply Site for Oxidized Low-Density Lipoprotein in Human Coronary Plaques. PLoS One. 2016;11(3):e0150862. PubMed PMID: 27010927. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4807097.

Antonopoulos AS, Antoniades C. The role of epicardial adipose tissue in cardiac biology: classic concepts and emerging roles. The Journal of physiology. 2017 Jun 15;595(12):3907-17. PubMed PMID: 28191635. Pubmed Central PMCID: 5471417.

88. Wang CP, Hsu HL, Hung WC, Yu TH, Chen YH, Chiu CA, et al. Increased epicardial adipose tissue (EAT) volume in type 2 diabetes mellitus and association with metabolic syndrome and severity of coronary atherosclerosis. Clinical endocrinology. 2009 Jun;70(6):876-82. PubMed PMID: 18778397.

89. Iacobellis G, Bianco AC. Epicardial adipose tissue: emerging physiological, pathophysiological and clinical features. Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM. 2011 Nov;22(11):450-7. PubMed PMID: 21852149. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4978122.

90. Ahn SG, Lim HS, Joe DY, Kang SJ, Choi BJ, Choi SY, et al. Relationship of epicardial adipose tissue by echocardiography to coronary artery disease. Heart. 2008 Mar;94(3):e7. PubMed PMID: 17923467.

91. Blumensatt M, Greulich S, Herzfeld de Wiza D, Mueller H, Maxhera B, Rabelink MJ, et al. Activin A impairs insulin action in cardiomyocytes via up-regulation of miR-143. Cardiovascular research. 2013 Nov 1;100(2):201-10. PubMed PMID: 23812417.

92. Greulich S, Maxhera B, Vandenplas G, de Wiza DH, Smiris K, Mueller H, et al. Secretory products from epicardial adipose tissue of patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus induce cardiomyocyte dysfunction. Circulation. 2012 Nov 6;126(19):2324-34. PubMed PMID: 23065384.

93. Venteclef N, Guglielmi V, Balse E, Gaborit B, Cotillard A, Atassi F, et al. Human epicardial adipose tissue induces fibrosis of the atrial myocardium through the secretion of adipo-fibrokines. European heart journal. 2015 Apr 1;36(13):795-805a. PubMed PMID: 23525094.

94. Anan M, Uchihashi K, Aoki S, Matsunobu A, Ootani A, Node K, et al. A promising culture model for analyzing the interaction between adipose tissue and cardiomyocytes. Endocrinology. 2011 Apr;152(4):1599-605. PubMed PMID: 21303960.

95. Gruzdeva O, Uchasova E, Dyleva Y, Borodkina D, Akbasheva O, Belik E, et al. Relationships between epicardial adipose tissue thickness and adipo-fibrokine indicator profiles post-myocardial infarction. Cardiovascular diabetology. 2018 Mar 16;17(1):40. PubMed PMID: 29548286. Pubmed Central PMCID: 5855976.

96. Vianello E, Dozio E, Bandera F, Schmitz G, Nebuloni M, Longhi E, et al. Dysfunctional EAT thickness may promote maladaptive heart remodeling in CVD patients through the ST2-IL33 system, directly related to EPAC protein expression. Scientific reports. 2019 Jul 17;9(1):10331. PubMed PMID: 31316160. Pubmed Central PMCID: 6637132.

97. Takaya K, Ogawa Y, Isse N, Okazaki T, Satoh N, Masuzaki H, et al. Molecular cloning of rat leptin receptor isoform complementary DNAs--identification of a missense mutation in Zucker fatty (fa/fa) rats. Biochemical and biophysical research communications. 1996 Aug 5;225(1):75-83. PubMed PMID: 8769097.

98. Reed MJ, Scribner KA. In-vivo and in-vitro models of type 2 diabetes in pharmaceutical drug discovery. Diabetes, obesity & metabolism. 1999 Mar;1(2):75-86. PubMed PMID: 11220515.

99. Cai XJ, Lister CA, Buckingham RE, Pickavance L, Wilding J, Arch JR, et al. Downregulation of orexin gene expression by severe obesity in the rats: studies in Zucker fatty and zucker diabetic fatty rats and effects of rosiglitazone. Brain research Molecular brain research. 2000 Apr 14;77(1):131-7. PubMed PMID: 10814839.

100. Wang B, Chandrasekera PC, Pippin JJ. Leptin- and leptin receptor-deficient rodent models: relevance for human type 2 diabetes. Current diabetes reviews. 2014 Mar;10(2):131-45. PubMed PMID: 24809394. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4082168.

101. Griffen SC, Wang J, German MS. A genetic defect in beta-cell gene expression segregates independently from the fa locus in the ZDF rat. Diabetes. 2001 Jan;50(1):63-8. PubMed PMID: 11147796.

102. Vora JP, Zimsen SM, Houghton DC, Anderson S. Evolution of metabolic and renal changes in the ZDF/Drt-fa rat model of type II diabetes. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN. 1996 Jan;7(1):113-7. PubMed PMID: 8808117.

103. Surwit RS, Kuhn CM, Cochrane C, McCubbin JA, Feinglos MN. Diet-induced type II diabetes in C57BL/6J mice. Diabetes. 1988 Sep;37(9):1163-7. PubMed PMID: 3044882.

104. Rebuffe-Scrive M, Surwit R, Feinglos M, Kuhn C, Rodin J. Regional fat distribution and metabolism in a new mouse model (C57BL/6J) of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Metabolism: clinical and experimental. 1993 Nov;42(11):1405-9. PubMed PMID: 8231834.

105. Paigen B, Morrow A, Brandon C, Mitchell D, Holmes P. Variation in susceptibility to atherosclerosis among inbred strains of mice. Atherosclerosis. 1985 Oct;57(1):65-73. PubMed PMID: 3841001.

106. Collins S, Martin TL, Surwit RS, Robidoux J. Genetic vulnerability to diet-induced obesity in the C57BL/6J mouse: physiological and molecular characteristics. Physiology & behavior. 2004 Apr;81(2):243-8. PubMed PMID: 15159170.

107. Mi H, Ebert D, Muruganujan A, Mills C, Albou LP, Mushayamaha T, et al. PANTHER version 16: a revised family classification, tree-based classification tool, enhancer regions and extensive API. Nucleic acids research. 2021 Jan 8;49(D1):D394-D403. PubMed PMID: 33290554. Pubmed Central PMCID: 7778891.

108. Bindea G, Mlecnik B, Hackl H, Charoentong P, Tosolini M, Kirilovsky A, et al. ClueGO: a Cytoscape plug-in to decipher functionally grouped gene ontology and pathway annotation networks. Bioinformatics. 2009 Apr 15;25(8):1091-3. PubMed PMID: 19237447. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2666812.

109. Dozio E, Maffioli E, Vianello E, Nonnis S, Grassi Scalvini F, Spatola L, et al. A Wide-Proteome Analysis to Identify Molecular Pathways Involved in Kidney Response to High-Fat Diet in Mice. International journal of molecular sciences. 2022 Mar 30;23(7). PubMed PMID: 35409168. Pubmed Central PMCID: 8999052.

110. Tan YQ, Li J, Chen HW. Epac, a positive or negative signalling molecule in cardiovascular diseases. Biomedicine & pharmacotherapy = Biomedecine & pharmacotherapie. 2022 Apr;148:112726. PubMed PMID: 35183995.

111. Conrotto P, Yakymovych I, Yakymovych M, Souchelnytskyi S. Interactome of transforming growth factor-beta type I receptor (TbetaRI): inhibition of TGFbeta signalling by Epac1. Journal of proteome research. 2007 Jan;6(1):287-97. PubMed PMID: 17203972.

112. Alvarez F, Istomine R, Shourian M, Pavey N, Al-Aubodah TA, Qureshi S, et al. The alarmins IL-1 and IL-33 differentially regulate the functional specialisation of Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells during mucosal inflammation. Mucosal immunology. 2019 May;12(3):746-60. PubMed PMID: 30872761.

113. Faustino LD, Griffith JW, Rahimi RA, Nepal K, Hamilos DL, Cho JL, et al. Interleukin-33 activates regulatory T cells to suppress innate gammadelta T cell responses in the lung. Nat

Immunol. 2020 Nov;21(11):1371-83. PubMed PMID: 32989331. Pubmed Central PMCID: 7578082.

114. Pastille E, Wasmer MH, Adamczyk A, Vu VP, Mager LF, Phuong NNT, et al. The IL-33/ST2 pathway shapes the regulatory T cell phenotype to promote intestinal cancer. Mucosal immunology. 2019 Jul;12(4):990-1003. PubMed PMID: 31165767. Pubmed Central PMCID: 7746527.

115. Xia N, Lu Y, Gu M, Li N, Liu M, Jiao J, et al. A Unique Population of Regulatory T Cells in Heart Potentiates Cardiac Protection From Myocardial Infarction. Circulation. 2020 Nov 17;142(20):1956-73. PubMed PMID: 32985264.

116. Thomas MJ, Seto E. Unlocking the mechanisms of transcription factor YY1: are chromatin modifying enzymes the key? Gene. 1999 Aug 20;236(2):197-208. PubMed PMID: 10452940.

117. Lu Y, Ma Z, Zhang Z, Xiong X, Wang X, Zhang H, et al. Yin Yang 1 promotes hepatic steatosis through repression of farnesoid X receptor in obese mice. Gut. 2014 Jan;63(1):170-8. PubMed PMID: 23348961.

118. Kuster DW, Merkus D, Kremer A, van Ijcken WF, de Beer VJ, Verhoeven AJ, et al. Left ventricular remodeling in swine after myocardial infarction: a transcriptional genomics approach. Basic research in cardiology. 2011 Nov;106(6):1269-81. PubMed PMID: 22057716. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3228945.

119. Sucharov CC, Dockstader K, McKinsey TA. YY1 protects cardiac myocytes from pathologic hypertrophy by interacting with HDAC5. Molecular biology of the cell. 2008 Oct;19(10):4141-53. PubMed PMID: 18632988. Pubmed Central PMCID: 2555926.

120. Asensio-Lopez MC, Lax A, Fernandez Del Palacio MJ, Sassi Y, Hajjar RJ, Januzzi JL, et al. Yin-Yang 1 transcription factor modulates ST2 expression during adverse cardiac remodeling post-myocardial infarction. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2019 May;130:216-33. PubMed PMID: 30998979.

121. Wang Z, Qin G, Zhao TC. HDAC4: mechanism of regulation and biological functions. Epigenomics. 2014 Feb;6(1):139-50. PubMed PMID: 24579951. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4380265.

122. Iglesias MJ, Pineiro R, Blanco M, Gallego R, Dieguez C, Gualillo O, et al. Growth hormone releasing peptide (ghrelin) is synthesized and secreted by cardiomyocytes. Cardiovascular research. 2004 Jun 1;62(3):481-8. PubMed PMID: 15158140.

123. Albarran-Zeckler RG, Smith RG. The ghrelin receptors (GHS-R1a and GHS-R1b). Endocrine development. 2013;25:5-15. PubMed PMID: 23652387.

124. Cabral-Pacheco GA, Garza-Veloz I, Castruita-De la Rosa C, Ramirez-Acuna JM, Perez-Romero BA, Guerrero-Rodriguez JF, et al. The Roles of Matrix Metalloproteinases and Their Inhibitors in Human Diseases. International journal of molecular sciences. 2020 Dec 20;21(24). PubMed PMID: 33419373. Pubmed Central PMCID: 7767220.

125. Bhowmik M, Majumdar S, Dasgupta A, Gupta Bhattacharya S, Saha S. Pilot-Scale Study Of Human Plasma Proteomics Identifies ApoE And IL33 As Markers In Atopic Asthma. Journal of asthma and allergy. 2019;12:273-83. PubMed PMID: 31571934. Pubmed Central PMCID: 6759800.

126. Gonzalez N, Moreno-Villegas Z, Gonzalez-Bris A, Egido J, Lorenzo O. Regulation of visceral and epicardial adipose tissue for preventing cardiovascular injuries associated to obesity and diabetes. Cardiovascular diabetology. 2017 Apr 4;16(1):44. PubMed PMID: 28376896. Pubmed Central PMCID: 5379721.

127. Farjo KM, Farjo RA, Halsey S, Moiseyev G, Ma JX. Retinol-binding protein 4 induces inflammation in human endothelial cells by an NADPH oxidase- and nuclear factor kappa B-dependent and retinol-independent mechanism. Molecular and cellular biology. 2012 Dec;32(24):5103-15. PubMed PMID: 23071093. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3510526.

128. Baron MA, Ferreira LRP, Teixeira PC, Moretti AIS, Santos RHB, Frade AF, et al. Matrix Metalloproteinase 2 and 9 Enzymatic Activities are Selectively Increased in the Myocardium of Chronic Chagas Disease Cardiomyopathy Patients: Role of TIMPs. Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology. 2022;12:836242. PubMed PMID: 35372112. Pubmed Central PMCID: 8968914.

129. Wu QQ, Xiao Y, Yuan Y, Ma ZG, Liao HH, Liu C, et al. Mechanisms contributing to cardiac remodelling. Clinical science. 2017 Sep 15;131(18):2319-45. PubMed PMID: 28842527.

130. Robichaux WG, 3rd, Cheng X. Intracellular cAMP Sensor EPAC: Physiology, Pathophysiology, and Therapeutics Development. Physiol Rev. 2018 Apr 1;98(2):919-1053. PubMed PMID: 29537337. Pubmed Central PMCID: 6050347.

131. de Rooij J, Zwartkruis FJ, Verheijen MH, Cool RH, Nijman SM, Wittinghofer A, et al.
Epac is a Rap1 guanine-nucleotide-exchange factor directly activated by cyclic AMP. Nature.
1998 Dec 3;396(6710):474-7. PubMed PMID: 9853756.

132. Laurent AC, Bisserier M, Lucas A, Tortosa F, Roumieux M, De Regibus A, et al. Exchange protein directly activated by cAMP 1 promotes autophagy during cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. Cardiovascular research. 2015 Jan 1;105(1):55-64. PubMed PMID: 25411381.

133. Pereira L, Cheng H, Lao DH, Na L, van Oort RJ, Brown JH, et al. Epac2 mediates cardiac beta1-adrenergic-dependent sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ leak and arrhythmia. Circulation. 2013 Feb 26;127(8):913-22. PubMed PMID: 23363625. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3690126.

134. Fujita T, Umemura M, Yokoyama U, Okumura S, Ishikawa Y. The role of Epac in the heart. Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS. 2017 Feb;74(4):591-606. PubMed PMID: 27549789.

135. Metrich M, Laurent AC, Breckler M, Duquesnes N, Hmitou I, Courillau D, et al. Epac activation induces histone deacetylase nuclear export via a Ras-dependent signalling pathway. Cellular signalling. 2010 Oct;22(10):1459-68. PubMed PMID: 20576488.

136. Moran O, Phillip M. Leptin: obesity, diabetes and other peripheral effects--a review. Pediatric diabetes. 2003 Jun;4(2):101-9. PubMed PMID: 14655266.

137. Dzhura I, Chepurny OG, Leech CA, Roe MW, Dzhura E, Xu X, et al. Phospholipase Cepsilon links Epac2 activation to the potentiation of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion from mouse islets of Langerhans. Islets. 2011 May-Jun;3(3):121-8. PubMed PMID: 21478675. Pubmed Central PMCID: 3116928.

138. Sugawara K, Shibasaki T, Takahashi H, Seino S. Structure and functional roles of Epac2 (Rapgef4). Gene. 2016 Jan 10;575(2 Pt 3):577-83. PubMed PMID: 26390815. Pubmed Central PMCID: 6636354.

139. McHedlidze T, Waldner M, Zopf S, Walker J, Rankin AL, Schuchmann M, et al. Interleukin-33-dependent innate lymphoid cells mediate hepatic fibrosis. Immunity. 2013 Aug 22;39(2):357-71. PubMed PMID: 23954132. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4172965. 140. He Z, Chen L, Furtado GC, Lira SA. Interleukin 33 regulates gene expression in intestinal epithelial cells independently of its nuclear localization. Cytokine. 2018 Nov;111:146-53. PubMed PMID: 30145369. Pubmed Central PMCID: 7050781.

141. Molofsky AB, Savage AK, Locksley RM. Interleukin-33 in Tissue Homeostasis, Injury, and Inflammation. Immunity. 2015 Jun 16;42(6):1005-19. PubMed PMID: 26084021. Pubmed Central PMCID: 4471869.

142. Gatti F, Mia S, Hammarstrom C, Frerker N, Fosby B, Wang J, et al. Nuclear IL-33 restrains the early conversion of fibroblasts to an extracellular matrix-secreting phenotype. Scientific reports. 2021 Jan 8;11(1):108. PubMed PMID: 33420328. Pubmed Central PMCID: 7794291.

List of figures and tables

Introduction:

- Figure 1: IL-33 primary structure and its functional domains.
- Figure 2: Pro-IL-33 processing and function.

Figure 3: Activation and regulation of IL-33/ST2 signalling.

Material and Methods:

Table 1: RT2qPCR Primer Assay QIAGEN

Table 2: Custom LNA oligonucleotide (QUIAGEN)

Results:

Figure 1: Characterization of IL-33 signalling in ZF rats: weight and serum IL-33 levels.

Figure 2: Characterization of IL-33 signalling in ZF rats: serum ST2 levels.

Figure 3: IL-33/ST2 expression in VAT tissue of ZF rats.

Figure 4: IL-33/ST2 pathway expression in cardiac biopsies of ZR rats.

Figure 5: Fibrotic cardiac remodeling evaluation in ZF rats.

Figure 6: Epac1 expression in cardiac biopsies of ZF rats and its correlation with IL-33/ST2 signalling.

Figure 7: Pictures of Hematoxylin and Eosin and Masson's staining of cardiac biopsies of ZF rats.

Figure 8: Pictures of IHC analysis of IL-33 and ST2 expression in heart biopsies of ZF rats.

Figure 9: Evaluation of FoxP3 expression in cardiac biopsies of ZF rats

Figure 10: Conditioned medium from VAT tissue from Lean or Obese ZR promotes cardiomyocytes gene expression alteration.

Figure 11: Conditioned medium from VAT tissue influenced hypertrophic/fibrotic signalling in cardiomyocytes.

Figure 12: in vitro Ghrelin treatment of H9C2 cells modulates IL-33 signalling.

Figure 13: in vitro Ghrelin treatment of H9C2 cells modulated ST2 signalling.

Figure 14: Ghrelin-induced pathway analysis in ZF cardiac biopsies

Figure 15: IL.33/ST2 pathway analysis in serum of ZDF rats.

Figure 16: IL-33/ST2 pathway analysis in cardiac biopsies of ZDF rats.

Figure 17: IL-33 protein expression in cardiac biopsies of ZDF rats.

Figure 18: ST2 isoform expression in cardiac biopsies of ZDF rats.

Figure 20: Analysis of fibrotic remodeling of cardiac biopsies of ZDF rats.

Figure 20: Pictures of Hematoxylin and Eosin and Masson's staining of cardiac biopsies of ZDF rats.

Figure 21: Circulating level of IL-33/ST2 and Leptin in DIO mice.

Figure 22: Circulating levels of pro and anti-inflammatory cytokines in DIO mice.

Figure 23: Analysis of visceral adipose expression of IL-33/ST2 pathway and Epac in DIO mice

Figure 24: Cardiac expression of IL-33/ST2 pathway in DIO mice.

Figure 25: Cardiac proteome evaluation in DIO mice.

Figure 26: Graphical summary of the bioinformatic analysis of cardiac proteome in DIO mice.

Dissemination of results

The results obtained in my research project have been shared with several colleagues according to the attendance in international conferences. In particular I presented our results with an oral presentation at SIPMeT Young Scientist Meeting (MOLECULAR PATHOLOGY: FROM BENCH TO BEDSIDE, 10-11 december 2021 in Perugia). This meeting was organised by SIPMET, the Italian society of Pathology and Translational Medicine, and included both academic and clinician members focused primarily on pathology but also on oncology and neuroscience. Thanks to this opportunity, we improved the dissemination of our work and intriguingly – we created scientific collaborations. Furthermore, this year we presented our data through a poster at international SIPMeT Congress 2022, in Ancona, sharing our work to a greater platea. The results of this project will be included in a paper and submitted to an open access journal accordingly to the principles and actions of Open Science (article in preparation). We are conscious that the organization of efficient and dynamic communication plan for project stakeholders is essential to gain visibility and to correctly inform all the scientific and nonscientific community concerning the milestones reached by the Project through mass communication devices (television, press, social media) and to allow interaction with other project-related topics. This way, the link to the publication will be included in the page of Phd program on principal social media (Facebook DMEM Page).

Lay summary

L'obesità è un problema di salute pubblica in continua crescita negli ultimi anni. Stili di vita sedentari e l'eccesso di grassi nella dieta sono i principali fattori che determinano obesità. L'obesità rappresenta un importante fattore di rischio di sviluppare diabete e malattie cardiovascolari, che rappresentano la prima causa di morte nei paesi occidentali. I meccanismi con cui l'accumulo di grasso determina un aumento del rischio cardiovascolare non sono del tutto chiari. Il nostro lavoro si propone di studiare in particolare come l'accumulo di grasso nel cuore e nella zona addominale alterino l'equilibrio metabolico del nostro organismo. Queste alterazioni nel lungo periodo si riflettono sul funzionamento cardiaco, modificandone la struttura

e alterandone le capacità di pompa. L'insufficienza cardiaca che ne risulta è l'incapacità del cuore di portare sangue e quindi ossigeno e nutrienti a tutte le cellule del nostro corpo. A questo scopo, utilizziamo diversi modelli di obesità come colture cellulari e modelli animali. Lo studio degli organi di questi animali ci permette di scoprire questi meccanismi ed in futuro di sviluppare nuovi farmaci e strategie per bloccare queste alterazioni prima che alterino la struttura cardiaca.

Obesity has emerged as an important risk factor for the onset of diabetes and cardiovascular diseases that constitute the main cause of mortality and morbidity in Western countries. The mechanisms by which fat accumulation causes an increase in cardiovascular risk are not really understood. The aim of this study is to investigate how adiposity accumulation in the heart and abdominal areas alters the metabolic balance of our body. These long-term changes affect the heart's function, altering its structure and pump competency. The resulting heart failure is the heart's inability to carry blood and therefore oxygen and nutrient to every cells of our organism. For this purpose, we use different models of obesity such as cell cultures and animal models. The study of the organs of these animals allows us to discover these mechanisms and in the future to develop new drugs and therapeutic strategies to block these alterations before they modify the cardiac structures.